

EVIDENCE OF THE EFFECTIVENESS OF NATURE-BASED WATER SOLUTIONS IN AFRICA

PART OF THE PROJECT 'SCALING-UP NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS ACROSS AFRICA'

Report title: Evidence for the effectiveness of nature-based water solutions in Africa

Project title: Scaling-up nature-based solutions across Africa

Lead project consultant: Sayers and Partners

Customer: WWF-UK, WWF-DK

Task title: 1 A systematic review of the contribution of nature-based solutions

Project period: June – October 2020

Task 1 consultant: Hydro-Ecology Consulting Ltd

Lead researcher: Mike Acreman

Assistant researchers: Samuel Acreman, Francois Edwards

Project steering group: Dani Jordan; Lewis Charters; Dave Tickner, Jeff Opperman, Stuart Orr, Andre Fourie, Jeff Worden, Trine Glue Doan, Paul Sayers, Mike Acreman.

Independent reviewer: Alison Smith (University of Oxford)

International experts who contributed to the review: Matthew McCartney (IWMI), James Dalton (IUCN), Graham Jewitt (IHE Delft), Mark Mulligan (Kings College London), David Coates (independent – former Programme Leader Secretariat Convention on Biological Diversity), Nick Davidson (independent – former Deputy Secretary General Ramsar Convention on Wetlands), Rob McInnes (independent).

Citation: Acreman, M.C., Smith, A., Edwards, F., Acreman, S. & Sayer, P. 2020 *Evidence for the effectiveness of nature-based solutions in Africa. Task 1 of the project 'scaling-up nature-based solutions across Africa. Task 1*. Final Report to WWF. Sayers and Partners, Hydro-Ecology Consulting Ltd, Wallingford, UK.

Disclaimer: This report is a technical paper prepared by Hydro-Ecology Consulting Ltd and Sayers and Partners for WWF-UK and WWF-DK. The material in it reflects the best judgement of Hydro-Ecology Consulting Ltd and Sayers and Partners in light of the information available at the time of preparation. Any use which a third party makes of this report, or any reliance on or decisions to be made based on it, is the responsibility of such third parties. The views expressed in the report are not necessarily those of WWF. This report remains the property of WWF, but its wide circulation is encouraged.

About the authors: The review was led by Professor Mike Acreman. He worked for the NERC Centre for Ecology & Hydrology for 34 years until June 2017. Since then he has been Director of Hydro-Ecology Consulting Ltd. His research focus for more than 25 years has been the hydro-ecological assessment, prediction and management of freshwater habitats and species, both within and without protected areas. During the 1990s he was Freshwater Management Advisor at IUCN and has continued this work since. From 1993 until 2016 he was the water lead for the Ramsar Convention's scientific advisory panel (STRP). Professor Acreman was a member of the WWF-UK Programme Committee from 2009 until 2016. From 2012 until 2017, he was Director of the Water Evidence Review Consortium, which undertook evidence reviews for NERC, Defra and the Environment Agency including the effects of forests on floods and effects of water abstraction on freshwater ecosystems. In 2017, he led the production of additional guidance for Defra on evidence reviews to extend

the work of Collins *et al.* (2015). He recently led the evidence review for WWF on effectiveness of protected areas for freshwater biodiversity.

Alison Smith is a Senior Research Associate at the Environmental Change Institute. She is experienced in using interdisciplinary research to find and promote solutions that tackle multiple environmental, economic and social problems. Her current work focuses mainly on natural capital, ecosystem services, green infrastructure, nature-based solutions and the multiple benefits of climate adaptation and mitigation actions.

Paul Sayers is Director of Partner at Sayers and Partners and has expertise in the strategic management of the water environment and related risks. He has led a wide range of studies including the UK Climate Change Risk Assessment and a series of books with WWF on strategic water management (flooding, droughts and blending natural and built infrastructure).

Sam Acreman has a BSc degree in Medical Biochemistry and MSc in Surgical Sciences and worked for 6 years at the University of Oxford. He is currently a PhD student in Medical Science at the University of Gothenburg. He is a specialist in experimental design and data analysis.

Francois Edwards is a freshwater ecologist at the Centre for Ecology & Hydrology, with experience in African rivers and floodplains.





Hydro-ecology Consulting Ltd

Executive summary

- 1. The study of nature-based solutions in Africa is important. The African continent has regularly suffered major floods and droughts, but these may be increasing as our climate and landscape changes. Deforestation, wetland conversion and urban development have exacerbated other water risks, such as soil erosion, river pollution and loss of biodiversity. Globally, there is increasing interest in the potential for nature-based solutions to help address climate and water-related risks to economies and society, such as floods, droughts and increasing water scarcity, whilst restoring vital wildlife habitats. To take this forward, WWF-UK, WWF-DK, ABInBev and other partners are undertaking a spatial analysis of Africa to identify likely hotspots for nature-based solutions to climate-water risks and their overlaps with biodiversity hotspots, particularly freshwater biodiversity, and to identify where policy and regulation enables investment in nature-based solutions, and where it acts as a barrier to such investment.
- 2. **Scope of project.** This project investigated nature-based solutions for water risks: floods and water resources (both water quantity and water quality/pollution). Other climate related risks, such as temperature changes were not included. The solutions assessed included landscape-scale change (forests and natural wetlands) and site-specific interventions including constructed wetlands and urban interventions such as soakaways, semi-vegetated channels and miniature bio-retention areas. Effectiveness was assessed in terms of downstream changes to water risks.
- 3. **Scientific evidence is key to this project**. The project required authoritative scientific evidence to support policy makers and public and private investors to scale-up nature-based solutions across Africa, to improve resilience to climate-water risks and enable recovery of freshwater biodiversity. This report describes a systematic review of the evidence-base on the effectiveness of nature-based solutions for mitigating specific climate-water risks to societies and economies in Africa. The review follows international best practice for evidence assessments including the PICO (population, intervention, comparator and outcome) framework and independent peer-review of protocols and outputs.
- 4. **The evidence review found significant literature**. Searches of global databases (*e.g.* Web of Science), requests to experts and institutions and scans of reference lists of review papers and books were made in three subject areas: forests (both afforestation and deforestation), wetlands (natural and constructed) and a wider search for 'nature-based solutions' and related terms (*e.g.* river restoration, green infrastructure, sustainable urban drainage). These searches returned 10 633 publications related to nature-based solutions in Africa. Application of strict selection criteria at title, abstract or full text level identified 150 publications containing 492 case studies that reported new empirical information on the effectiveness of nature-based solutions. These were widely distributed across Africa. This shows that the topic is highly relevant and widely discussed but few publications contribute to new knowledge.
- 5. **Human and wildlife impacts can be assessed from water metrics**. The results of the evidence review are presented in terms of changes in water metrics (floods, water quality, water quantity). These changes need to be analysed to determine the impacts on people and wildlife. Reductions in pollutants in rivers are normally positive for everyone. Reductions in flooding are positive for people and infrastructure (e.g. roads, hospitals, factories and housing) at risk of flooding, but the same reductions may be negative for flood-dependent ecosystems, such as floodplain wetlands. The human impact of changes in river flow volume depends on how water resources are managed. Increases in wet season flows are beneficial for reservoirs that support irrigation, public

supply or hydropower generation, whereas increases in dry season flows are beneficial where abstractions are made directly from flowing rivers.

- Most cases of afforestation reduce water resource quantity downstream. The 6. evidence search produced 52 publications containing 133 case studies reporting changes to water metrics resulting from changes in forest cover. A total of 97 case studies (of catchments ranging from $< 1 \text{km}^2$ to $> 95,000 \text{ km}^2$) reported alterations to water resource quantity (annual or seasonal flows) downstream resulting from changes in forest cover, split roughly evenly between native and non-native forest types. The case studies covered a range of forest types, though not tropical rainforest or cloud forests. None reported a specific location of the forest within the catchment (e.g. in the headwaters or downstream near the flow measurement point). All reported at a single measuring point, none reported changes in water resources at different distances downstream. The vast majority of studies compared water availability at the same point before and after deforestation or afforestation; just a few compared deforested catchments with a forested reference catchment. Most (32 of the 35) afforestation case studies showed decreased downstream surface water resource quantity due to high canopy interception and evaporation, many by more than 60%, with 30 non-native species examples and two mixed forest types. The remaining studies (3 of 35) reported no effect. The two reforestation case studies in Ethiopia also reported significant decrease in downstream water quantity. Decreases continued for 15 or 20 years after planting. The hydrological effects of forest can be highly seasonal; whilst deforestation typically increases mean annual water flow and wet season flow, dry-season flows can increase or decrease depending on factors such as soil type, geology and topography.
- 7. **Deforestation can increase or decrease downstream surface water resource quantity** Deforestation was reported to increase downstream surface water resource quantity in three-fifths (35 of 59) of case studies. Of these 35, 15 case studies concerned native species, 11 non-native, 3 mixed and 6 unspecified. However, almost one third (19 of 60) of case studies showed the opposite, reporting that deforestation decreases surface water quantity. Of these 19, 8 were native species studies, 1 non-native, 5 mixed and 5 unspecified. Generally, changes in downstream water resources were greater for non-native than for native species. Five case studies, including three of native trees, reported that deforestation had no hydrological effect.
- 8. There is little quantitative information available on interactions between forests and groundwater resources. Only 3 case studies reported a change in groundwater resources in response to changes in forest cover; these did not show any trend.
- 9. **Preventing deforestation helps avoid increasing flood risk downstream**. A total of 20 case studies reported flood response to changes in forest cover. Three quarters (12 of 16) of deforestation case studies reported an increase in downstream flood magnitude, whilst three showed no effect. The afforestation case studies reported increases (1 of 4), decreases (1 of 4) and no effect (2 of 4) on flood magnitude. Sub-dividing the case studies into native and non-native did not reveal strong trends, partly due to the small numbers of studies.
- 10. **Greater forest cover results in reduced sediment in downstream watercourses**. Most (9 of 11) case studies reported that deforestation increases sediment yield downstream and one showed decreasing sediment yield with afforestation. Two showed opposite impacts. None reported a specific location of the forest (*e.g.* headwaters). All reported at a single measuring point, none reported changes in sediment at different distances downstream. None reported a specific location of the

forest within the catchment (e.g. in the headwaters or downstream near the sediment measurement point).

- 11. Headwater wetlands reduce water resource quantity, some floodplain wetlands increase water resource quantity. The evidence search produced 55 publications containing 144 case studies reporting changes to water metrics resulting from the presence of a natural wetland. No studies reported on the impacts of management of wetlands, such as drainage of dambo wetlands or separation of floodplains from their rivers by embankments. The case studies were divided into two broad types: headwater wetlands, such as dambos, and floodplains. A total of 49 case studies reported changes to water quantity metrics (seasonal or annual flows) resulting from the presence of a natural wetland. Just over half of the studies (25 of 49) reported that the presence of wetlands (of both types) meant reduced surface water resource quantity downstream (compared to the catchment upstream of the wetland or a similar catchment without a wetland), with less than a quarter (10 of 49) reporting an increase in surface water resources of which most (8 of 10) were floodplains. All reported at a single measuring point, normally at the outlet of the wetland; none reported changes in water resource quantity at different distances downstream.
- 12. Floodplain wetlands reduce floods, headwater wetlands increase floods. A total of 38 case studies of natural wetlands reported flood metrics, most in terms of peak flow; 14 from headwater wetlands and 22 from floodplains (two were studies of groups of wetlands). Almost all (20 of 22) of floodplain studies reported a decrease in flood magnitude due to large available water storage before flood events, whilst two reported no effect. Most (11 of 14) of the headwater wetland studies showed an increase in flood magnitude compared to catchments without headwater wetlands due to saturated soils augmenting surface runoff. Only one study of the 14 reported a decrease in floods, whilst two reported no effect.
- 13. **Different ecosystems function hydrologically in different ways**. The case studies show that headwater wetlands, such as dambos, have different impacts on floods and water resources than floodplain wetlands. When considering solutions to water issues it therefore beneficial to use more specific terms (such as dambo or floodplain) than the generic term 'wetlands' to avoid inference that findings of one type of wetland can be readily transferred to another type of wetland. In a similar way, hydrological processes vary between savannah woodlands, montane woodlands, tropical rainforests, cloud forests and plantations of non-native species, and sometimes operate differently according to soil type, topography and aspect.
- 14. Some wetlands interact with underlying aquifers, but relationships are site specific. Twenty case studies examined interactions between natural wetlands and underlying aquifers. Of the 13 studying recharge, eight simply stated that recharge occurs, three reported recharge did not occur, one reported the wetland increased recharge whilst one reported the wetland decreased recharge. Of the seven examining wetlands as groundwater discharge sites, five stated it occurred and two that it did not occur. Overall, the interaction between wetlands and underlying aquifers is site specific and largely descriptive, so no quantitative generalisations can be made from the evidence reported in the case studies found.
- 15. Natural wetlands reduce pollution from sediment, nutrients and heavy metals. Three case studies reported changes in sediment in water courses downstream of wetlands; all were decreases. Thirteen case studies reported changes in nutrients downstream. Of the seven case studies of nitrogen, all reported decreases. Of the five studies of phosphorus, four reported a decrease and one reported an increase. Eight case

studies report reductions in heavy metal (cadmium, copper, iron, lead, manganese, uranium and zinc) in water courses downstream of natural wetlands.

- 16. **Constructed wetlands reduce a wide range of pollutants**. The evidence search produced 36 publications containing 202 case studies of changes to water quality metrics resulting from the construction of wetlands. The metrics included sediment, ammonia, nutrients (nitrogen and phosphorus), biological oxygen demand (BOD), chemical oxygen demand (COD), heavy metals (e.g. cadmium, lead, zinc, copper, iron, manganese, mercury), oil and grease, *E. coli*, parasite eggs, Salmonellae and faecal coliforms. All case studies report reductions in metrics.
- 17. **Greenways can reduce floods and groundwater resources**. The evidence search produced 7 publications containing 13 case studies reporting changes to water metrics resulting from implementation of nature-based solutions other than wetlands and forests. Three case studies of green ways linking cities and forests reported reduced runoff coefficients, potentially reducing flood risk and increasing replenishment of subterranean water sources.
- 18. **Sustainable urban drainage reduces pollutants**. The three case studies of sustainable urban drainage, including semi-vegetated channels, soakaways and miniature bio-retention areas, showed reductions in nitrate, phosphate and chemical oxygen demand.
- 19. The evidence base is consistent with previous reviews. Other reviews have found a decrease in water yields resulting from an increase in forest area, especially for non-native species. Some studies of tropical rainforest and cloud forests suggest reduced water availability downstream after forest loss whilst others showed an increase or no effect. Some computer models predict that large scale deforestation can alter rainfall patterns across continents, with reduced rainfall and reduced water resource quantity in some areas distant from the altered forest. Previous reviews have found that at small spatial scales (< 20 km²) forests can reduce flood flows, but are less effective at reducing large floods. Measured data for impacts in larger catchments (> 100 km²) are lacking and studies depend on modelling. Previous reviews also reported that headwater wetlands, such as dambos, reduce downstream water resources due to high evaporation. These reviews also conclude that upstream wetlands predominantly enhance floods, whilst downstream floodplains reduce floods. Others reviews have found that constructed wetlands are very effective and efficient for wastewater treatment.
- 20. There was little evidence available concerning the effects of management of interventions. The case studies mostly reported the effects of the presence or absence of interventions, such as wetlands and forests. No studies reported on the impact of management, such as wetland drainage, tree thinning or grazing or the enhancement of ecosystem functions, such as building banks or deflectors on floodplains to increase flood water storage.
- 21. The review did not cover regional implications of evaporation. The review focused on downstream implications of nature-based interventions. It did not cover potential links between evaporation and rainfall in other catchments across regional, continental and global scales.
- 22. Nature-based solutions can deliver multiple co-benefits, but also generate trade-offs. Nature-based solutions can support multiple objectives, such as carbon sequestration, climate amelioration and biodiversity enhancement as well as significant flood reduction, sediment reduction and water quality improvement. However, there may be hydrological trade-offs such as reduced water resources.

- 23. **The database provides good support for the spatial analysis in Africa**. The evidence found can form the basis to identify likely hotspots for nature-based solutions to climate-water risks (Task 2) and to identify overlaps between nature-based solution hotspots and biodiversity hotspots, with particular reference to freshwater biodiversity (Task 3). Spatial analysis should focus especially on forests and floodplains, which provide the most promising nature-based solutions at landscape scale. However, few publications reported on enabling environments for nature-based solutions, so the database provides little support to the analysis of policies, regulations and investment (Task 4).
- 24. **Further studies are required to strengthen the evidence base**. The finding that only 150 publications out of 10,633 returned by the search suggests an imbalance between science and policy discourse. Africa is a large and diverse continent and the 492 case studies of water risks provide evidence for only some of the processes, issues and implications of nature-based solutions. More studies are required on the effectiveness of nature-based solutions, especially in terms of downstream propagation of effects and management.

Contents

Executi	ve summaryiv
1. Int	roduction2
1.1	Background2
1.2	Project aims2
1.3	Specific aims of Task 13
1.4	Structure of the report
2. Sea	arching for evidence
2.1	Systematic evidence reviews
2.2	Selection criteria5
2.3	Defining search terms for Web of Science7
2.4	Applying inclusion/exclusion criteria8
2.5	Extraction of information for the database9
2.6	Inclusion/exclusion of modelling studies11
2.7	Choice of hydrological metrics12
3. Re	sults of analysis 12
3.1	Hydrological metrics12
3.2	Geographical distribution of case studies, intervention types and metrics12
4. Hy	drological response to interventions15
4.1	Forests
4.2	Natural wetlands24
4.3	Constructed wetlands28
4.4	Other nature-based interventions
5. Dis	scussion
5.1	Utility of the database30
5.2	Comparison of results with other reviews and studies out with Africa
5.3	Comparison with Oxford University database32
5.4	Management associated with interventions34
5.5	Location of intervention with the catchment35
5.6	Temporal aspects
5.7	Inter-catchment and regional scale impacts of nature-based solutions36
5.8	Benefits, synergies and trades-off
5.9	Gaps
6. Co	nclusions
7. Re	ferences
7.1	General references
7.2	Evidence review references47

1. Introduction

1.1 Background

The African continent has regularly suffered major floods and droughts, but these may be increasing as our climate and landscape changes. Deforestation, wetland conversion and urban development, have exacerbated other water risks, such as soil erosion, river pollution and loss of biodiversity. Globally, there is increasing interest in the potential for nature-based solutions to help address climate and water-related risks to economies and society, such as floods, droughts and increasing water scarcity. There are many definitions of nature-based solutions, two of most widely used are:

"Actions to protect, sustainably manage, and restore natural or modified ecosystems, that address societal challenges effectively and adaptively, simultaneously providing human well-being and biodiversity benefits" (IUCN - Cohen-Shacham *et al.*, 2019).

"Nature-based solutions aim to help societies address a variety of environmental, social and economic challenges in sustainable ways. They are actions inspired by, supported by or copied from nature; both using and enhancing existing solutions to challenges, as well as exploring more novel solutions, for example, mimicking how non-human organisms and communities cope with environmental extremes" (European Commission, 2015).

However, the current evidence base for the effectiveness of nature-based solutions to contribute, at scale, to enhanced socio-economic resilience is unclear, and there is a need for improved strategic analysis that can guide policy development and public and private sector investments in such solutions. The potential for synergies and/or trade-offs between nature-based solutions and measures to protect and restore biodiversity also requires further research. WWF, ABInBev and other partners require authoritative supporting scientific evidence that can help to inform policy makers and public and private investors, so that they can make strategic decisions about how and where to apply nature-based solutions across Africa to improve resilience to climate-water risks and enable recovery of freshwater biodiversity.

This project investigated nature-based solutions for downstream water issues: floods and water resources (water quantity and water quality/pollution). Other climate risks such as changes in temperature were not within the scope. The solutions assessed include landscape-scale change (forests and natural wetlands), and site-specific interventions including constructed wetlands and urban intervention including soakaways, semi-vegetated channels and soakaways.

1.2 Project aims

The project plan included the following activities.

Task 1: systematic review of the existing evidence for nature-based solutions for water in Africa;

Task 2: spatial analysis of Africa to identify likely hotspots for nature-based solutions to climate-water risks

Task 3: spatial analysis to identify overlaps between nature-based solution hotspots and biodiversity hotspots, with particular reference to freshwater biodiversity;

Task 4: analysis of public policies in selected hotspots identifying where policy and regulation enables investment in nature-based solutions, and where it acts as a barrier to such investment;

Task 5: support WWF and ABinBev in drafting final outputs from the assessment

This report concerns Task 1.

1.3 Specific aims of Task 1.

The aim of Task 1 was to deliver an evidence review that is robust, objective, transparent, repeatable. It was required to provide results in an easily accessible manner that facilitate an audit trail from recommendations to underpinning knowledge. The review design followed recommendations for a Quick Scoping Review (QSR) providing informed conclusion on the volume and characteristics of an evidence base and a synthesis of what that evidence indicates in relation to the question (Collins *et al.*, 2015). It should be noted that this method does not include, for example, detailed statistical analysis.

The focus of the review is to provide evidence that informs the selection of parameter values in the spatial analysis in Task 2 and Task 3. The primary objective is to locate, collate and describe information on quantitative effectiveness of nature-based solutions in Africa.

Evidence is also required for Task 4 to analyse public policies in selected hotspots identifying where policy and regulation enables investment in nature-based solutions, and where it acts as a barrier to such investment. There is also a special interest in the relationship between nature-based solutions and human migration, conflict and refugees. It was agreed with the Project Advisory Group that separate searches for literature in this area are not possible given the resources available in Task 1. It was anticipated that literature relevant to Task 4 would be returned from the searches into the effectiveness of nature-based solutions. Any references to enabling conditions and human impacts found in that literature would be collated and passed to the Task 4 team.

To achieve the objectives of Task 1, the evidence review addressed the question

"Are nature-based solutions effective in mitigating specific climate-water risks to societies and economies in Africa?"

In addition, two supplementary questions were posed.

"What are the characteristics of nature-based solutions (e.g. type of ecosystem, landscape location, level of management) that are effective in mitigating specific climate-water risks?" and

"What are the enabling environments required to implement nature-based solutions (e.g. policy and planning frameworks, incentives, private sector involvement, stakeholder participation)?".

1.4 Structure of the report

Section 2 describes the method used for this evidence review. Section 3 provides the results in terms of numbers of publications and studies found. Section 4 describes the hydrological response to interventions as defined in the case studies found for Africa. Section 5 examines wider literature to put the findings into a broader context. Section 6 provides a brief summary and conclusions of the work.

2. Searching for evidence

2.1 Systematic evidence reviews

Achieving the objective of the study required collation of the quantitative evidence of change in climate-water risks that result from nature-based solutions. The word 'change' is used instead of 'impact' to avoid pre-empting a conclusion that nature-based solutions will necessarily ameliorate climate-water risks. In the analysis of the evidence, the degree to which nature-based solutions alter climate-water risks needs be considered in the light of contextual factors, such as type of solution, size, geographical location and its ecological setting. It also needs to compare alterations to climate-water risks against reference conditions, such as before implementation or a similar area without the intervention.

Most studies start with a review, but they can vary enormously in quality and thoroughness. Reviews are often based on pre-existing knowledge of the authors (along with their preferences and biases), papers and books easily available on the authors' shelves or the first that come up from an internet search. Key principles of the analysis reported here are that credible evidence reviews must be comprehensive, robust, objective, transparent and repeatable, with full details of methods used. Reviews should also provide results in an easily accessible manner that facilitates an audit trail from summary statements to underpinning knowledge. Systematic evidence reviews were designed specifically to achieve these outcomes. They originated in medical research (Cook *et al.*, 1997) but have since been adapted to study environmental issues (Fazey, 2004; Pullin & Stewart, 2006; Norris *et al.*, 2012. Such systematic reviews follow strict protocols to answer focused questions. The systematic review process we used follows the PRISMA 2009 checklist (Moher *et al.*, 2009), a recognised standard for conducting Systematic Reviews adapted for ecological and environmental issues.

No review is ever fully complete and never covers all available literature; this is an openended task and, indeed, some academics spend their entire careers amassing literature on very focused topics. The degree to which a review can be comprehensive depends on the resources available; all reviews are restricted by time and resources. Formal systematic reviews take many months and can cost £100 000. As part of its evidence-based policymaking, the UK Department for the Environment Food and Rural Affairs (Collins *et al.*, 2015) produced (in collaboration with the Centre for Ecology & Hydrology) a consistent set of evidence review methods. These included two less exhaustive methods than full systematic reviews (SR), namely quick scoping reviews (QSR) and rapid evidence assessments (REA). By using consistent processes, the three types of review use the same robust concepts and can be undertaken in sequence if necessary, with one building on another.



Figure 1. Steps in undertaking a systematic evidence review.

In this study, we undertake a QSR, which is usually based on scales of 3-5 months and funding of £10-30 000 (Collins *et al.*, 2015). A QSR aims to provide an informed conclusion on the volume and characteristics of an evidence base and a synthesis of what that evidence indicates in relation to the question. It is noteworthy that this method does not include detailed statistical analysis of data extracted from sources.

Rather than striving to be completely comprehensive, the approach taken here adheres to the principle of a conditional logic statement "if ... then". **If** I apply these terms to a search engine, include/exclude returned publications according to these rules and extract this information from the resulting sub-set, **then** I get this evidence. The search terms, inclusion/exclusion rules and the list of information to be extracted may be subjective, but this is minimised by peer-review and publication of the protocol means the process is replicable and conforms to quality assurance requirements.

The steps followed in the evidence review are described in the Figure 1 and the sections below.

2.2 Selection criteria

The PICO (population, intervention, comparator and outcome) framework for organising selection criteria is widely used in systematic evidence reviews. The elements of the PICO framework (Table 1) define the selection criteria (whether publications are included or excluded in the analysis).

The scope of the study was defined as the terrestrial and freshwater environment of Africa. Studies from other parts of the world and saline systems (coastal and marine) were excluded (see Population in Table 1).

The intervention we were assessing was the implementation of nature-based solutions. Definitions of nature-based solutions include: "the sustainable management and use of nature for tackling societal challenges" (Eggermont et al. 2015) and "actions to protect, sustainably manage and restore natural or modified ecosystems that address societal challenges effectively and adaptively, simultaneously providing human well-being and biodiversity benefits" (IUCN - Cohen-Shacham *et al.*, 2016).

Nature-based solutions can range from landscape-scale alterations to vegetation cover, land use to enhance biodiversity and water management, to small scale interventions such as green roofs to cool city areas during summer or plant-filled depressions to capture storm water or abate pollution. The Project Advisory Group confirmed that the project focus was on landscape-scale nature-based solutions, primarily looking at the role of forests and wetlands in altering floods, water resource quantity and water quality downstream (in terms of sediment for forests and also nutrients, BOD, COD and metals for wetlands). The Group also declared interest in smaller-scale nature-based solutions such as sustainable urban drainage and constructed wetlands. Major engineering solutions, such as large dams were excluded (see Intervention in Table 1). Since many publications relevant to nature-based solutions (such as afforestation or wetland restoration), would not use the term "nature-based solutions", it was decided to undertake separate searches for water functions of forests and wetlands in addition to a search for studies explicitly called nature-based solutions.

The intention of the review was to determine the effectiveness of nature-based solutions by comparison with a baseline, either the situation at that location before implementation or with a similar location where the intervention had not been implemented (see Comparator in Table 1). An increase in water resource quantity or a decrease in flood magnitude or pollutant level constitutes an effective solution.

To define parameter values for the spatial analysis, publications presenting quantitative measures of climate-water risks - floods, surface and groundwater quantity and water quality (sediment, nutrients, BOD, COD, heavy metals) - were included. Publications containing only qualitative measures, personal impressions or inferences beyond the data collected were excluded (see Outcome in Table 1).

Table 1. PICO elements

Primary question:

"Are nature-based solutions effective in mitigating specific climate-water risks to societies and economies in Africa?"

Secondary questions:

"What are the characteristics of nature-based solutions (e.g. type of ecosystem, landscape location, level of management) that are effective in mitigating specific climate-water risks?"

"What are the enabling environments required to implement nature-based solutions (e.g. policy and planning frameworks, incentives, private sector involvement, stakeholder participation)?"

PICO element	Inclusion	Evelusion
D opulation The	Any country in Africa In	Other developing countries not
subject or upit of	torrostrial and freshwater	in Africa, Coastal and marina
subject of unit of	systems or forests wetlands	In Antea. Coastar and marme
study	grasslands (urban aroas2) where	opinions and unpublished
	rosults have been published in	matorial
	readily findable databases	
Intervention	Implementation of nature-based	Engineered solutions such as
Exposure applied	solutions (e.g. afforestation	large dams solutions to risks
or investigated	restoring wetlands building	other than climate-water
or investigated	constructed wetlands and	other than enhate water.
	sustainable urban drainage) to	
	climate-water risk (e.g. floods	
	water resource quantity.	
	droughts, water quality).	
Comparator.	Pre- and post-implementation	Implementation of nature-based
Control with no	of nature-based solutions. Post-	solutions where there is no
intervention	implementation of nature-based	control or reference counter-
	solutions compared to reference	factual. Studies where pre and
	location representing pre-	post implementation are
	implementation conditions.	modelled and not based on local
	Simulation of reference	data.
	conditions within a computer	
	model.	
Outcome. The	Quantified change in climate-	Qualitative or inferred change in
effect of the	water risk such as floods,	climate-water risk without data.
intervention	droughts, water resource	Model predictions not confirmed
	quantity and water quality.	by observed data. No
	And/or information on enabling	information on enabling
	environment (e.g. policy,	environment that supported
	planning, incentives) that	implementation.
	supported implementation. Plus	
	any stakeholder perceptions of	
	risk or change in risk.	

Publications from 1990 to the present in English language were included from global databases, Web of Science and the Scientific Electronic Library Online (SciELO), plus the global search engine Google Scholar. In addition, publications recommended by experts and institutions (e.g. IUCN, IWMI, IHE-Delft, University of Oxford) and from citations/reference lists of previous reviews and books (termed snowballing) were included. This encompassed formally published and grey literature (technical, research and project reports, working papers, issued by government or non-government organisations) from available sources.

2.3 Defining search terms for Web of Science

To retrieve information from global databases, such as Web of Science, the PICO elements must be translated into search terms using the database query language syntax that employs Boolean operators (e.g. AND, NOT, OR).

Box 1. Search terms in Web of Science syntax for nature-based solutions

Web of Science

= (Africa or Algeria or Angola or Benin or Botswana or Burkina or Burundi or Verde or Cameroon or Chad or Comoros or Congo or Ivoire or Djibouti or Egypt or Eritrea or Eswatini or Swaziland or Ethiopia or Gabon or Gambia or Ghana or Guinea or Kenya or Lesotho or Liberia or Libya or Madagascar or Malawi or Mali or Mauritania or Mauritius or Morocco or Mozambique or Namibia or Niger or Nigeria or Rwanda or Principe or Senegal or Seychelles or Leone or Somalia or Sudan or Tanzania or Togo or Tunisia or Uganda or Zambia or Zimbabwe)

AND ("nature-based" or "ecosystem-based" or "ecosystem service*" or "*green infrastructure" or "natural infrastructure" or "sud*" or "sustainable drainage" or "sustainable urban" or "green urban" or ecohydrolog* or "constructed wetland" or "constructed wetlands" or "green roof*" or "recharge basin*" or "natural flood management" or "natural stormwater management" or "water sensitive urban design" or "integrated urban water management" or "river restoration" or "water tower*")

AND (*water or flood* or *flow* or discharge or runoff or recharge or pollutant* or nutrient* or metal* or nitrate or phosphate)

Different combinations of search terms and different syntax e.g. wildcards \$ (one character) or * (any number of characters including spaces) were trialled. Each returned different lists of publications from Web of Science. A set of search terms was selected that returned key publications on the topic that were recommended by experts and the number of publications that could be reviewed within the time and resources of the project. Initial search terms and the PICO table were set out within a protocol, a draft of which was assessed by Dr Alison Smith as part of the independent peer-review process and approved by the Project Advisory Group.

Box 2. Search terms in Web of Science syntax for forests

Web of Science

= (Africa or Algeria or Angola or Benin or Botswana or Burkina or Burundi or Verde or Cameroon or Chad or Comoros or Congo or Ivoire or Djibouti or Egypt or Eritrea or Eswatini or Swaziland or Ethiopia or Gabon or Gambia or Ghana or Guinea or Kenya or Lesotho or Liberia or Libya or Madagascar or Malawi or Mali or Mauritania or Mauritius or Morocco or Mozambique or Namibia or Niger or Nigeria or Rwanda or Principe or Senegal or Seychelles or Leone or Somalia or Sudan or Tanzania or Togo or Tunisia or Uganda or Zambia or Zimbabwe)

AND (woodland or *forest*)

AND (*water or flood* or streamflow or "stream flow*" or discharge or "annual flow*" or runoff or recharge or sediment)

The final set of terms for nature-based solutions is presented in Box 1. To this were added publications retrieved from Google scholar and those recommended by experts that were not found on Web of Science (primarily grey literature) and citations/reference lists from review papers and books (e.g. Cohen-Shacham *et al.*, 2016 and Seddon *et al.* 2019). The final sets of terms for forests and wetlands are presented in Box 2 and Box 3. The number of publications returned from searches are given in Table 1. It is noteworthy that the returns may be different if the same search terms are used on future dates.

Box 3. Search terms in Web of Science syntax for wetlands

Web of Science

= (Africa or Algeria or Angola or Benin or Botswana or Burkina or Burundi or Verde or Cameroon or Chad or Comoros or Congo or Ivoire or Djibouti or Egypt or Eritrea or Eswatini or Swaziland or Ethiopia or Gabon or Gambia or Ghana or Guinea or Kenya or Lesotho or Liberia or Libya or Madagascar or Malawi or Mali or Mauritania or Mauritius or Morocco or Mozambique or Namibia or Niger or Nigeria or Rwanda or Principe or Senegal or Seychelles or Leone or Somalia or Sudan or Tanzania or Togo or Tunisia or Uganda or Zambia or Zimbabwe)

AND (wetland* or swamp* or dambo* or peat* or bog* or fen* or mire* or marsh* or floodplain or fadama or bolis or sudd)

AND (*water or flood* or *flow* or discharge or runoff or recharge or pollutant* or nutrient* or metal* or nitrate or phosphate or sediment)

In Box 2 the terms woodland and forests were used to capture studies of afforestation, reforestation and deforestation. Reference lists from review papers and books (e.g. Filoso *et al.* 2017) were added.

2.4 Applying inclusion/exclusion criteria

First, duplicate publications were removed. Next the title of each publication was read and those not related to the topic were excluded, such papers of studies in Papua New Guinea picked-up by including Guinea in the search terms. Previous review papers were excluded in their own right (unless they included new unpublished data) to avoid mixing different review protocols, duplicating publication and including reviewers' interpretations of other literature, so only primary sources were included. The citation/reference list of reviews were used to find additional publications. Of those included at this stage the abstract was read to ensure the publication was relevant and likely to include quantitative information. Many abstracts contained much of the data required, such as percentage change in a hydrological metric in response to, for example, planting a forest of a given area. Full text was examined to extract all information required for the database.

rubic , manifer b of publications conacea	Table 2.	Numbers	of	oublica	tions	collated
---	----------	---------	----	---------	-------	----------

	Total number of publications returned from Web of Science	Total gross publications (including snowballing, Google scholar, expert recommendations)	No. of publications short-listed (for inclusion in the database)	
Nature-based solutions	1203	1218		7
Forests	4521	4548	55	2
Wetlands	4812	4867	9	1

2.5 Extraction of information for the database

The characteristics and contextual information important for this review are different for forests, natural wetlands and constructed wetlands. For example, for natural wetlands the freshwater ecosystem type and upstream catchment area are important. In contrast, important information for constructed wetlands includes flow rate and species planted (as they tend to be monocultures).

Some publications contained information on several sites and/or several different parameters. Each site/parameter was considered as a separate case study. The numbers are given in Table 6.

	No. of publications short-listed	No. of case studies from short-listed publications
Nature-based solutions	7	13
Forests	52	133
Natural wetlands	55	144
Constructed wetlands	36	202

Table 3. Number of case studies

The information listed in Table 4 was extracted from all short-listed papers and entered to the database.

Table 4. Records in	n database comi	mon to all records
---------------------	-----------------	--------------------

Column header in	Explanation
database	
paper number	Sequential unique identifier for each publication
case study number	Sequential unique identifier for each cases study
author	Lead author of publication
year	Year of publication
title	Title of publication
reference	Publisher e.g. journal or institution
country	State in Africa
summary statement	Verbatim quotation from publication that summarises
	findings
catchment/location	Geographical location of study
time frame of study	Calendar years of study, before and after
	implementation

Slightly different information was extracted for each of the four sets of publications, naturebased solutions, forests, natural wetlands and constructed wetland, as shown in Tables 6, 7 & 8.

Column header in	Explanation		
database	-		
ecoregion	Terrestrial ecoregion defined by Olsen <i>et al.</i> (2001)		
nature-based solution type	Type of nature-based solution implemented		
broad setting	Rural or urban		
intervention description	Narrative on type of intervention e.g. urban drainage		
size of intervention	Area (m2) of intervention		
size of catchment	Catchment area (km2) to metric measurement point		
outcomes	Narrative of broad results of intervention		
metric	Hydrological measure e.g. annual flow volume		
% change in metric	How much (%) the metric changes in the presence of		
	the nature-based solution		
climate-water risk category	Whether the metric relates to flood, water resource		
	quantity or water quality/pollution		
summary standardised	Direction of change for risk category following the		
measure	intervention (increase, decrease or neutral)		
enabling environment	Supporting policies or incentives for nature-based		
	solution implementation		
notes	Relevant information not held in other columns		

Table 5. Additional records in database for nature-based solutions

Table 6. Additional records in database for forests

Column header in	Explanation	
database	•	
ecoregion	Terrestrial ecoregion defined by Olsen <i>et al.</i> (2001)	
forest type	Whether trees are predominantly native or non-native	
tree species	Specific species present	
size of catchment	Catchment area (km ²) to metric measurement point	
forest cover change	Forest cover change reported in publication as an	
	absolute figure and as a percentage of the catchment	
	area	
nature of action	Whether afforestation, reforestation or deforestation	
basis of inference	How the study was formulated e.g. before-after	
	afforestation	
metric	Hydrological measure e.g. annual flow volume	
% change in metric	How much (%) the metric changes in the presence of	
_	the trees compared to fewer or no trees	
climate-water risk category	Whether metric relates to flood, water resource quantity	
	or sediment (other pollution was not recorded)	
summary standardised	Direction of change for risk category standardised for	
measure - afforestation	afforestation (increase, decrease or neutral)	
notes	Relevant information not held in other columns	

Column header in	Explanation		
database			
ecoregion	Freshwater ecoregion defined by Abel <i>et al</i> (2008)		
major habitat type	Habitat type defined by Abel <i>et al</i> (2008)		
wetland type	Type of wetland		
local name	Local name for type of wetland		
size of catchment	Area (km ²) to outlet of wetland		
size of wetland	Area (km ²) of wetland (normally maximum extent)		
basis of inference	How the study was formulated e.g. upstream-		
	downstream of wetland		
metric	Hydrological metric such as annual flow volume at		
	outlet of wetland		
% change in metric	How much (%) the metric changes in the presence of		
	the wetland compared to without the wetland		
climate risk category	Whether metric relates to flood, water resource quantity		
	or quality/pollution (including sediment)		
summary standardised	Direction of change in risk category standardised for		
measure – wetland wetland construction/restoration (increase, decre			
construction/restoration neutral)			
notes	Relevant information not held in other columns		

Table 7. Additional records in database for natural wetlands

Table 8. Additional records in database for constructed wetlands

Column header in	Explanation		
database	-		
wetland type	Type of construction		
key species	Vegetation species planted		
flow rate (m ³ d ⁻¹)	Rate of flow into the wetland		
size of wetland	Area (km ²) of wetland		
basis of inference	How the study was formulated e.g. upstream-		
	downstream of wetland		
metric	Hydrological metric such as pollutant type		
% change in metric	How much (%) the metric changes between inflow and		
	outflow		
climate risk category	Whether metric relates to flood, water resource quantity		
	or quality/pollution (including sediment)		
summary standardised	Direction of change in risk category (increase, decrease		
measure	or neutral)		
notes	Relevant information not held in other columns		

2.6 Inclusion/exclusion of modelling studies

Modelling typically involves the simulation of environmental processes in a computer. In particular, the SWAT model has been used to estimate the implications of actions such as deforestation using parameter values based on data from other studies. In such as cases no observed data are used to check the model results. Examples include change in river flows resulting from deforestation in the Upper Shire river catchment, Malawi (Palamuleni *et al.*, 2011), the Nyando River Basin, Kenya (Olang & Fürst, 2010) and the river Niger and Lake Chad basins of West Africa (Li *et al.*, 2007). Whilst such studies may be useful for local land managers or decision-makers they do not add to quantitative scientific evidence, so were excluded from the review.

In some case studies data were collected on interventions and the response of hydrological metrics, but modelling was used to disentangle simultaneous effects of climate variability and land cover change (*e.g.* Pitman, 1978; Kashaigili *et al.*, 2006). For some case studies data were available with the intervention in place, but the pre-intervention conditions were simulated using a model (*e.g.* McCartney *et al.* 2013. Such studies were included, but the use of a model was noted.

2.7 Choice of hydrological metrics

The purpose of this study is to find evidence of alteration to downstream floods, water resource quantity and water quality, including sediment. Many other components of the hydrological cycle are often measured, such as canopy interception, infiltration and evaporation. For example, it is widely accepted that the total evaporation from forested areas is greater than from grasslands, largely due to the differences in the amount of rainfall that is intercepted by the forest canopy and to higher transpiration rates (Bulcock & Jewitt, 2012). However, reduction in evaporation from planting trees may be offset by greater infiltration, such that downstream flows are not reduced. Therefore, only studies that provided quantitative records of downstream floods, water resource quantity or water quality are included. Studies were rejected if downstream hydrological implications were inferred from knowledge of other components, such as evaporation.

3. Results of analysis

3.1 Hydrological metrics

Water resource quantity metrics were of three types. First 'annual flow volume', which is the total resource available downstream during the year. Most parts of Africa have distinct wet and dry seasons. The two other metrics were 'dry season flows', which tend to be low flows (sometimes no flow) during the period of the year with no or low rainfall, and wet season flows which capture flows during the rainy period of the year. These normally incorporate floods, but individual floods still normally deliver only a small part of the wet season flow, so in most cases the metric is quite different from flood metrics.

The flood metrics are predominantly peak flow during flood events, which typically last days or weeks. In a few cases the flood metrics reported were change in percentage of rainfall that contributed to storm runoff. Area flooded was not reported in any studies.

Water quality metrics were primarily percentage removal of pollutants (nutrients, BOD, COD, heavy metals, pharmaceuticals, coliforms, petroleum products and sediment).

3.2 Geographical distribution of case studies, intervention types and metrics

Table 9 shows the number of case studies originating from different African countries. The 10 case studies involving more than one country are not included in the Table. It can be seen that there is a wide distribution across Africa from Morocco and Algeria in the north to South Africa and from Senegal in the west to Madagascar in the east, covering arid, semi-arid, tropical and sub-tropical areas including savannahs and forest zones. The highest number of case studies came from Ethiopia and South Africa, which have a good spread of all four categories. High numbers also come from Egypt, Uganda, Tanzania and Zambia, though the vast majority from Egypt are constructed wetlands. Those from Uganda are all wetlands (both natural and constructed), whereas most case studies from Zambia are natural wetlands. Some case studies involved more than one country so are entered multiple times in Table 9, but some regional studies did not specify the countries so are not included.

	nature-	forests	natural	constructed	total
	based		wetlands	wetlands	
	solutions				
Algeria				4	4
Benin		2			2
Botswana			6		6
Burkina Faso	1	1			2
Burundi		2			2
Cameroon			2	5	7
Chad			2		2
Congo		1			1
Egypt			2	29	31
Ethiopia		38	9	35	82
Ghana		2	6	16	24
Kenya	2	9	1	3	15
Madagascar			2		2
Malawi		10	10		20
Mali			4		4
Morocco				10	10
Namibia	1				1
Nigeria		2	5	19	26
Rwanda				2	2
Senegal			5		5
Sierra Leone			3		3
South Africa	9	37	14	10	70
Sudan			3		3
Tanzania		16	3	19	38
Tunisia			1	18	19
Uganda			21	27	48
Zambia		9	28		37
Zimbabwe		3	13		16
more than one country		1	4	5	10
total	13	133	144	202	492

Table 9. Number of case studies found per topic and country

Of the 13 case studies explicitly using the term 'nature-based solutions', five were urban and 8 rural. They covered a range of intervention types (Table 10). These studies reported mainly downstream annual flow volume, but some also reported groundwater levels, floods and water quality (Table 11).

Table 10. Number of types of nature-based solution case studies

Aquifer recharge	2	Grassed waterways	2
Sustainable urban drainage	3	Storm water harvesting	5
Greenways	1		

Table 11. Number of nature-based solution case studies reporting water quantity and quality parameters

Annual flow volume	3	Chemical oxygen demand	1
Annual groundwater	3	Nitrate	1
Dry season flow volume	1	Phosphate	1
Floods	2	Sediment	1

Table 12. Number of forest case studies reporting water quantity and quality parameters

Annual flow volume	62	Floods	20
Dry season flow volume	29	Groundwater recharge	4
Wet season flow volume	6	Sediment	12

Of the 133 forest case studies, 50 were of native forests, 45 related to non-native forests, whilst 14 were mixed native and non-native. In 24 case studies the forest type was unspecified. These 133 studies reported mainly downstream annual flow volume, low flow or dry season flow volume (which are collectively referred to as water resource quantity), but some case studies also reported impacts on floods and sediment (Table 12).

Afforestation case studies totalled 35, with 31 explicitly planting non-native trees, 2 planting a mix of native and non-native and in 2 cases the tree species were not specified. Only two studies involved reforestation (growing native forests, where native forests had existed before), in which enclosures had been erected to allow native trees to regrow on land that had been natural forest. No case studies of planting native trees were found.

Table 13. Number of natural wetland case studies reporting water quantity and quality parameters

Annual flow volume	17	Ammonia	1
Annual groundwater discharge	7	Biologcial Oxygen Demand	1
Annual groundwater recharge	13	Colloids	1
Dry period flow duration	3	Faecal coliforms	2
Dry period flow volume	29	Microbes	1
Flood peak high return period	10	Nitrate	1
Flood peak low return period	28	Organic matter	2
Wet period flow volume	2	Pharmaceuticals	1
Wet period groundwater recharge	1	Sediment	3
		Total nitrogen	6
Cadmium	1	Total phosphorus	6
Copper	2		
Iron	1		
Lead	1		
Manganese	1		
Uranium	1		
Zinc	1		

Deforestation case studies totalled 92 studies, with 50 involving removal of native trees, 10 removal of non-native trees, 12 removal of mixed tree species and in 20 case studies the tree species were unspecified. The studies methods were of three types: hydrological measures

before and after deforestation at the same site; measurements after deforestation compared with measurements from a reference site to indicate pre-deforestation conditions and comparisons between forested and non-forested sites with no deforestation taking place during the study. Clearly afforestation and deforestation are different processes, but if a nature-based solution is defined in terms of restoring native forests to their original condition in their original locations, then the findings of deforestation of native forest can be reversed to inform the likely results of reforestation.

The 144 natural wetland case studies reported a range of water quantity and quality parameters including river flows downstream (during floods, low flows, dry seasons and wet seasons), groundwater interactions and quality of downstream rivers including nutrients (*e.g.* nitrate and phosphate), heavy metals (including cadmium, copper, lead, uranium and zinc) and microbes (Table 13). None of natural wetland case studies reported construction or destruction of wetlands. Most case studies recorded metrics immediately downstream of the wetland, compared to immediately upstream or on a similar catchment without a wetland. A few studies used chemical tracers to define hydrological processes

Ammonia	8	Orthophosphate	2
Biological Oxygen Demand	26	P. aeruginosa	1
Cadmium	3	Parasite eggs	1
Chemical Oxygen Demand	29	Phenol	1
Copper	6	Phosphate	14
E. coli	2	Salmonellae	1
Faecal coliforms	4	Sulphates	1
heavy metals	1	Total coliforms	2
Iron	11	Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen	2
Lead	6	Total nitrogen	12
Listeria monocytogenes	1	Total petroleum	1
Manganese	3	Total phosphorus	11
Mercury	3	Total suspended solids	20
Nickel	2	Turbidity	1
Nitrate	15	Zinc	8
Oil & grease	2		

Table 14. Number of constructed wetland case studies reporting water quality parameters

The 202 constructed wetland case studies reported water quality parameters including biological oxygen demand, chemical oxygen demand, heavy metals, coliforms, petroleum, microbes and nutrients (Table 14). All constructed wetland case studies compared input concentrations of pollutants with outputs from the wetland to calculate removal effectiveness.

4. Hydrological response to interventions

The large number of case studies and complex interactions between interventions and the water metrics preclude full analysis of every example individually. The following sections describe salient features of the case study database. The term water resource quantity is used to summarise a set of metrics: annual flow volume, dry season flow and low flow.

4.1 Forests

The evidence search produced 133 case studies reporting change in water metrics resulting from changes in forest cover. Of these 133, 97 reported downstream surface water resource quantity. Most (32 of the 35) afforestation case studies show decreased downstream surface water quantity, with 30 non-native species examples and two mixed forest types (Figure 1). The two reforestation case studies in Ethiopia involved exclosures to allow natural tree regrowth, without replanting and reported significant decrease in runoff generation, which continued for 15 or 20 years (Descheemaeker *et al.*, 2006). A few studies reported that flow reduction due to afforestation varied with the age of the trees. For example, after clear-felling and then replanting, pine trees in Jonkershoek, South Africa, flows increased after deforestation and returned to preclearing levels within 12 years, with the peak increase after 20 years and thereafter the reduction was less, (Scott *et al.*, 2000). In other studies reductions continued for 35 years (Scott *et al.*, 2000). One case study, of unspecified tree species, reported an increase in surface water quantity with afforestation (Akele *et al.*, 2019), whilst two, a non-native case in Malawi (Mbano *et al.*, 2009) and an unspecified case in Ethiopia (Tesfaye *et al.*, 2017), reported no hydrological change.

Deforestation was reported to increase downstream surface water resource quantity in over half (35 of 59) of case studies. Of these 35, 15 case studies concerned native species, 11 nonnative, 3 mixed and 6 unspecified. However, almost one third (19 of 60) of case studies countered this trend reporting that deforestation decreases surface water quantity. Of the 19, 8 were native species studies, 1 non-native, 5 mixed and 5 unspecified. The strongest evidence for an increase in water resource quantity with deforestation is for annual flow metrics, with 26 case studies, as opposed to 10 showing a decrease. For dry season flows, the evidence is mixed with a shade more deforestation case studies showing a decrease (7) compared to an increase (6). For native forests, which are likely to be the focus of nature-based solutions, 10 case studies report an increase in annual flow volume following deforestation, whilst 3 report a decrease. There is equal evidence for an increase (4) or a decrease (4) in dry season flows after native forest removal.



Figure 1. Changes in downstream surface water resource quantity under deforestation (left) and afforestation (centre) and reforestation (right). Case studies of native forest studies are shown in green, non-native forest studies in blue, mixed forest studies in red and unspecified forest studies in orange. No studies reported a specific location of the forest, they simply reported percentage forest cover within the catchment. Therefore, it was not possible to assess the differing impacts of forests in different locations, such as headwaters or along the main channel. All case studies reported at a single measuring point, none reported changes in water resources at different distances downstream so it was not possible to determine how an effect might propagate downstream.



Figure 2. Number of studies of reforestation (green) and afforestation (blue) showing different changes in surface water resource quantity downstream.



Figure 3. Number of studies of deforestation of native (green) and non-native (blue) trees showing different changes in surface water resource quantity downstream.

Figure 2 shows that both case studies of reforestation report decreases in surface water resource quantity greater than 20% (34.7% & 21.4%), whilst two-thirds (17 of 24) of the case studies of afforestation show decreases in surface water resource quantity of greater than 60%. Figure 3 shows that surface water resource quantity changes are less consistent for deforestation. Most (7 of 8) case studies of native tree deforestation report increased water quantity of greater than 80%, with one reporting a decrease of over 80%. Almost half (13 of 28) of the case studies of non-native deforestation show increases in water quantity of greater than 40%, whereas one third (9 of 28) show decreases *i.e.* less than zero %.



Figure 4. Relationship between change in forest cover (%) and change in downstream surface water resource quantity (%). Case studies of native deforestation are shown in green, studies of native reforestation are shown in brown, non-native forest studies in blue, mixed forest studies in red and unspecified forest studies in orange. On the horizontal axis deforestation is shown as negative values, whilst afforestation and reforestation are shown as positive values.



Figure 5. Relationship between change in forest cover (%) and change in downstream surface water resource quantity (%). Case studies of native deforestation are shown in green, studies of native reforestation are shown in brown, non-native forest studies in blue, mixed forest studies in red and unspecified forest studies in orange. The vertical axis is truncated at 250% to aid visualisation of lower values.

Figure 4 shows percentage change in surface water resource quantity (vertical axis) for a given change in percentage of the catchment forested (the horizontal axis shows negative value for deforestation and positive for afforestation) for the subset of the case studies that reported both values. One native forest and two unspecified case studies reported some very high increases in quantity: a 36 fold increase from removal of native forest from 10% of the catchment in Zambia (McCartney *et al.*, 2013), for which the without-forest flow data are from a hydrological model, and a 7 fold increase in Nigeria (Lal, 1997) and 16 fold increase in Ethiopia (Girmay *et al.*, 2009), both from 100% removal of mixed forests.

Figure 5 shows the same graph as Figure 4 with the vertical axis truncated at 250% to aid visualisation of lower values. The two reforestation case studies show decreases in annual flow volume of 34.7% and 21.4% (Descheemaeker *et al.*, 2006). The maximum decrease in surface water quantity from deforestation is 50% from clear-felling native trees in Tanzania (Lundgren, 1980) whilst several studies report 100% decrease (drving of the river) from afforestation. The general trend is for increasing water resource quantity as the percentage of the catchment covered by forests decreases and decreasing water resource quantity as the percentage of the catchment forested area increases. Changes in water resource quantity are generally greater for non-native than for native species. Case studies covered a range of forest types found in Africa, but notable exceptions were tropical rainforests and cloud forests. There was no clear pattern of the direction of change in water resource quantity with forest type (Table 15). The two case studies of reforestation were of Ethiopian montane woodland. These trends have not been tested for statistical significance. Nevertheless, there is good evidence that removal of non-native forests increases downstream surface water resource quantity, though the evidence for native and mixed forests is less clear, with 12 cases in which deforestation reduced water resource quantity compared to 18 where it led to an increase.

	country	forest type		
annual flow volume				
increase in water	Tanzania	Montane evergreen forest		
availability	Malawi	Montane forest		
	Kenya	Montane forest		
	Benin	Forest-savannah mosaic		
	Tanzania	Miombo woodland		
	Zambia	Miombo woodland		
	Kenya	Forest-savannah mosaic		
neutral	Ethiopia	Montane forest		
decrease in water	Tanzania	Eastern arc forests		
availability				
dry season flow volume				
increase in water	Tanzania	Acacia woodlands		
availability	Tanzania	Montane woodland		
	Malawi	Miombo woodland		
	Zambia	Miombo woodland		
decrease in water	Ethiopia	Montane forest		
availability	Zambia	Miombo woodland		
wet season flow volume				
increase in water availability	Ethiopia	Montane forest		

Table 15. Type of native forests (ecoregion from Olsen <i>et a</i>	l., 2001) in case studies of
deforestation impacts on water resource quantit	y



Figure 6. Changes in downstream flood magnitude under deforestation (left) and afforestation, and reforestation (right). Case studies of catchments smaller than 200 km2 are show in red, studies of catchments larger than 200 km2 are shown in blue, studies where the catchment area is not specified are shown in orange. Modelling studies have surrounding circles.

The 20 case studies of flood response to changes in forest cover (Figure 6) were from a range of catchment sizes from > 17000 km² to < 1 km² and show a diverse pattern. Three quarters (12 of 16) of deforestation case studies reported an increase in downstream flood magnitude, whilst three showed no effect. The afforestation case studies reported increases (1 of 4), decreases (1 of 4) and no effect (2 of 4) on flood magnitude. Sub-dividing the case studies into native and non-native did not reveal strong trends, partly due to the small numbers of studies. Most of the large catchment studies used models. The one example showing a decrease in flood magnitude following deforestation comes from the Rivi Rivi River in Malawi (McCartney *et al.*, 2013), for which the without-forest flood data were from a hydrological model. The one example showing an increase in flood magnitude following afforestation came from a broad-scale statistical study of data from across Africa (Li *et al.*, 2016). It is possible that this resulted not from the increase in afforestation but due to other land cover changes in the catchment that happened at the same time. All case studies reported at a single measuring point, none reported changes in floods at different distances downstream so it was not possible to determine how an effect might propagate downstream.

The 10 case studies providing numerical values for percentage change in flood magnitude and percentage in catchment area forested are shown in Figure 7 (horizontal axis with negative value for deforestation and positive for afforestation); there were no studies providing quantitative results of afforestation effects on floods. Although there are limited data, they suggest that greater deforestation causes increased flood magnitude. This trend has not been tested for statistical significance. Nevertheless, there is good evidence that preventing deforestation can avoid increases in flood risk. There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the effect of afforestation on floods.



Figure 7. Relationship between change in forest cover (%) and change in flood magnitude (%). The horizontal axis shows negative value for deforestation and positive for afforestation.

Most studies reported flood metrics at a single time period after deforestation. One exception was in Kapchorwa, Kenya where the conversion from forest to agricultural land in the first 5 years caused about half of the total observed increases in discharge in relation to rainfall (Recha *et al.*, 2012).

The 11 case studies of change to sediment yield in response to changes in forest cover are shown in Figure 8. Most (9 of 11) case studies indicate that deforestation increases sediment yield downstream and one shows decreasing sediment yield with afforestation. One study in the Congo (Coynel *et al.*, 2005) does not conform to this trend, but sediment concentrations from the forested catchments and savannah catchments were both very low so the difference may not be very significant. There is strong evidence that afforestation or reforestation provides a good nature-based solution for reducing sediment yields.







Figure 9. Relationship between change in forest cover (%) and sediment yield (%). The horizontal axis shows negative value for deforestation and positive for afforestation.



Figure 10. Changes in groundwater resource quantity under deforestation (left) and afforestation, including reforestation (right) for all types of forest combined.

Only 5 of the 11 case studies reporting changes in sediment contained data for percentage change in sediment yield and percentage in catchment area forested (Figure 9). These data suggest a strong trend of increasing sediment yield with decreasing forest cover, with up to a 4-fold increase in sediment with clear-felling. The trend has not been tested for statistical

significance. Afforestation or reforestation would appear to be a good nature-based solution for reducing sediment loads. All case studies reported at a single measuring point, none reported changes in sediment at different distances downstream so it was not possible to determine how an effect might propagate downstream. No case studies reported how change in sediment might vary over time, such as with tree growth under afforestation.

Only 3 case studies reported change in groundwater resource quantity in response to changes in forest cover (Figure 10), and these do not show any trend. There is little evidence that afforestation provides a good nature-based solution for increasing groundwater resource quantity.

4.2 Natural wetlands

The evidence search produced 144 case studies reporting changes to water metrics associated with the presence of natural wetlands within catchments ranging in size from > 300 000 km² to < 1 km². Although a range of wetland types was represented (characterised by different vegetation and soils), the vast majority were referred to by the authors as either dambos (all in headwater areas) or floodplains (downstream). Catchment location is a long-standing simple method of classifying wetlands for functional assessment (Novitski, 1978; Adamus & Stockwell, 1983; Bullock & Acreman, 2003). Three case studies involved a statistical analysis of a large number of wetlands of various types, but the remaining 141 were divided into two broad categories: headwater wetlands including dambos and headwater peat swamps, and floodplains that included lowland papyrus wetlands, inland deltas and lowland valley swamps.

Most case studies recorded metrics immediately downstream of the wetland, compared to immediately upstream or on a similar catchment without a wetland. A few studies used chemical tracers to define hydrological processes. All case studies reported at a single measuring point, none reported changes in metrics at different distances downstream, so it was not possible to determine how an effect might propagate downstream. No case studies reported how metrics might vary over time such as with wetland management.



Figure 11. Changes in surface water resource quantity associated with the presence of natural headwater wetlands and floodplains for different flow metrics.

The 53 case studies reported surface water resource quantity metrics. The 52 that could be classified as headwater or floodplain are shown in Figure 11 (one was of multiple wetland types). Most (32) reported dry season flows, some (17) reported annual total flows and a few (3) reported wet season flows. Just over half of the studies (28 of 52) reported that wetlands (of both types) are associated with reduced surface water resources downstream, with less than a fifth (9 of 52) reporting an increase in surface water resources of which most (8 of 9) were floodplains. In detailed studies of dambo headwater wetlands in Zimbabwe, it was found that dry season depletion of dambos in dambos is dominated by high evaporation from open water and emergent vegetation rather than by contributing to downstream river flow (McCartney & Neal, 1999). Similarly, the water balance of large floodplains (Senegal, Sudd, Niger and Okavango) are dominated by high evaporation (Sutcliffe & Parks, 1989. The one study reporting an increase in downstream water resource quantity from a headwater wetland in Zambia was for the wet season (Balek & Perry, 1973).

The case studies providing numerical values for percentage change in surface water resource quantity and percentage of the catchment area covered by wetlands are shown in Figure 12. The outlier on the graph is the case study of the Inner Niger delta in Mali (Sutcliffe & Parks, 1989), which reports a 5-fold increase in dry season flows downstream of the wetland compared to upstream. This inland delta is very large (30 000 km²) and holds water for many months such that released water increases flows downstream during the dry season. The data points are more widely spread for small wetlands, but there are few for large wetlands. Since all the case studies compare the presence of a wetland with no wetland, the horizontal axis in Figure 12 can equally be called 'change in area of wetland (as a proportion of catchment size)'.



Figure 12. Relationship between (change in) wetland size (% catchment area) and surface water resource quantity (%) for headwater wetlands (blue) and floodplains (red).

The 38 natural wetland case studies reported flood metrics. Two general wetland studies report increases in small floods in the presence of wetlands. The other 36 are shown in Figure 13. Of these, 14 are studies of headwater wetlands and 22 are of floodplains. Almost all (20 of 22) of the floodplain studies reported a decrease in flood magnitude, whilst the other two reported no effect. In contrast most (11 of 14) studies of headwater wetlands showed increased floods associated with their presence. The only case study reporting a decrease in flood magnitude with a headwater wetland present is of a dambo in Malawi (Smith-Carrington, 1983). Detailed studies of dambos were undertaken in Zimbabwe

(McCartney *et al.*, 1998a, 1998b, McCartney, 2000) and combined water balance studies, comparisons of catchments with and without dambos and water tracer experiments. These studies concluded that the dambos had a small capacity to absorb rainfall at the start of the wetland season, when water table levels were low, but soon became saturated and contributed to flood runoff thereafter. This is consistent with basic hydrological knowledge stretching back to the classic studies (Hewlett and Hibbert, 1967 repeated by Nippgen *et al.*, 2015), who recognised that headwater river margins are normally saturated, have no available water storage and act as variable source areas for flood generating and called them 'contributing' areas, which generate large quantities of flood runoff (Burt, 1995). These areas are called wetlands by hydrologists. In contrast floodplains are normally dry and provide large volumes of flood water storage that reduce floods downstream (NERC, 1975).



Figure 13. Changes in flood magnitude resulting from the presence of natural headwater wetlands and floodplains.

The phrase 'associated with' is used above when discussing the relationship between headwater wetlands and floods as the presence of wetlands can be seen as an indicator of flood generating processes *i.e.* rainfall, topography and soil properties simultaneously create saturated conditions that we call wetlands and which generate flood runoff.

The 26 case studies providing values for percentage change in flood magnitude and percentage in catchment area covered by wetlands are shown in Figure 14, divided into studies of large rarer floods and small more frequent floods. There is a slight tendency for larger headwater wetlands to increase floods to a greater extent and to increase larger floods. The data also suggest that flood reduction increases with growing floodplain size up until 20% of the catchment is covered; above this coverage flood reduction remains at 80%. This trend has not been tested for statistical significance. The evidence suggests that restoring floodplains could be a nature-based solution for reducing floods but the presence of headwater wetlands would increase flood risk and would not be a solution.



Figure 14. Changes in flood magnitude % as a function of natural wetland size (% catchment area) headwater wetlands: large floods (blue) small floods (green) and floodplains: large floods (red) small floods (black).

Twenty case studies reported interactions between natural wetlands and underlying aquifers. Of these, 13 assessed whether wetlands affected groundwater recharge, with eight simply stating recharge occurs, three reporting recharge did not occur, one reported the wetland increased recharge, whilst one reported the wetland decreased recharge. Seven case studies assessed whether wetlands were groundwater discharge sites; five reported discharge occurred, whilst two reported it did not occur. Overall, the interaction between wetlands and underlying aquifers is site specific and no generalisations can be made from the evidence reported in the case studies found. Furthermore, although, for example, floodplain inundation was found to recharge aquifers underlying the Senegal River floodplain (Hollis, 1996) and Hadejia-Nguru floodplain, Nigeria (Goes, 1999), the results could not be formulated as simple rules.

Only three case studies of natural wetlands reported changes to sediment in downstream water courses. All three reported decreases, two reported -70.0% and - 79.1%, the third study did not provide data. Seven case studies of natural wetlands reported changes to total nitrogen in downstream water course; all were decreases. Five of these reported numerical values, which ranged from -33.0% to - 53.0%. Six case studies of natural wetlands reported changes to total phosphorus in downstream water courses; three reported decreases from - 5.0% to -50.0, one study of Natete wetland Uganda (Kanyiginya et al., 2010) reported an increase due possibly to remobilisation of phosphorus from sediments. Eight case studies of natural wetlands reported changes in heavy metal (cadmium, copper, iron, lead, manganese, uranium and zinc) in downstream water courses; all were decreases ranging from -61% to full removal (-100%). There is strong evidence that all wetlands provide nature-based solutions for reducing sediment, nutrients and heavy metals. One case study reported that phosphorous can build-up in sediment to the extent that the wetland becomes a source rather than a sink it which case management action is required (Kanyiginya *et al.*, 2010).

4.3 Constructed wetlands

The evidence search produced 202 case studies reporting changes to water metrics resulting from the construction of wetlands. These studies report a wide range of water quality metrics including sediment, ammonia, nutrients (nitrogen and phosphorus), biological oxygen demand (BOD), chemical oxygen demand (COD), heavy metals (e.g. cadmium, lead, zinc, copper, iron, manganese, mercury), oil and grease, E. coli, parasite eggs, Salmonellae and faecal coliforms. All case studies report reductions in these metrics (Figures 15, 16, 17). Many case studies were concerned with the relative removal rates of pollutants from different designs of constructed wetlands or types of vegetation employed.



Figure 15. Number of studies of constructed wetlands showing changes in BOD and COD.







Figure 17. Number of studies of constructed wetlands showing changes in suspended sediments and heavy metals.

Figures 18 and 19 show some relationship between effectiveness of pollutant removal and wetland size. As catchment area is not a relevant variable, to compare case studies, the wetland size (m^2) was standardised by the division by the input flow rate $(m^3 d^{-1})$. There is a tendency towards improved pollutant removal with larger wetlands. The relationships have not been tested for statistical significance.



Figure 18. Changes in BOD and COD with wetland size (as a function of input flow rate).



Figure 19. Changes in heavy metals and suspended sediment with wetland size (as a function of input flow rate).

4.4 Other nature-based interventions

The searches returned 1218 publications referring to nature-based solutions (other than wetlands and forests), such as green roofs, sustainable urban drainage and river channel restoration. However, the vast majority focused on direct and local water/climate impacts such as reducing temperatures, draining flood water or collecting water for public use or agriculture. Only 9 publications provided quantitative results of impacts on downstream floods, water resource quantity or water pollution, yielding 13 case studies. These included rainwater harvesting, aquifer recharge and sustainable urban drainage.

Three case studies of greenways linking cities and forests reported reduced runoff coefficients, potentially reducing flood risk and increasing replenishment of subterranean water sources (Sy *et al.*, 2014).

Three case studies of sustainable urban drainage, including semi-vegetated channels, soakaways and miniature bio-retention areas, showed reductions in nitrate, phosphate and chemical oxygen demand (Fitchett, 2017).

5. Discussion

5.1 Utility of the database

Most studies of nature-based solutions involve case studies in north America or Europe (e.g. Kabisch et al., 2017) and reviews have found only a few studies in Africa (Hanson et al., 2017). However, the current review has revealed 494 case studies undertaken in African countries. This constitutes a strong database of evidence on which to base the spatial analysis of Africa to identify likely hotspots for nature-based solutions to climate-water risks (Task 2) and to identify overlaps between nature-based solution hotspots and biodiversity hotspots, with particular reference to freshwater biodiversity (Task 3). A notable limitation was the lack of studies of tropical rain forests, particularly cloud forests. Much of the evidence is consistent and lends itself to spatial analysis, such as the increased reduction in flood risk and sediment as forest area increases. Some evidence is inconsistent, for example floodplains can in some cases increase downstream surface water resource quantity, but in other cases decrease them. However, further analysis of the source publications might clarify the reason for differences. Additionally, the contextual information concerning these case studies, such as eco-climatic zone (Olsen et al., 2001; Abel et al., 2008), can support identification of donor case studies for specific locations of potential nature-based solutions. Deforestation and forestation involve different processes and thus may not be entirely reversible. Furthermore, there were few cases of native forest restoration (reforestation) found on which to base the likely effectiveness of reforestation for water risks. However, if the goal of the nature-based solution is to restore natural forests, results of studies of deforestation of native trees can be used in reverse to assess the potential for reforestation.

Nature-based solutions are unlikely to involve the creation of floodplains, so the literature showing the hydrological implications of floodplain presence might seem of limited practical importance. However, many floodplains have effectively been lost by building of embankments that separate floodplains from their rivers. The results of case studies can be used to assess flood risk reduction from reconnecting floodplains with their rivers (*e.g.* Acreman *et al.*, 2003). Such reconnection and resultant floodplain inundation may also augment aquifer recharged as reported for the Senegal River floodplain (Hollis, 1996) and Hadejia-Nguru floodplain, Nigeria (Goes, 1999).

5.2 Comparison of results with other reviews and studies out with Africa

The evidence found from the searches is consistent with previous reviews. Nature-based solutions are featuring in many African countries including within national climate change adaptation policies (Seddon *et al.*, 2019.

The subject of the interaction between forests and water is plagued by myths, misinterpretations and too hasty generalisations (Andréssian, 2004; Chappell, 2005; Tognetti *et al.*, 2005). An early review of basin studies within the tropics found that forests generally reduced river low-flows and thereby have a negative impact on the provisioning ecosystem service of water supply (Bruijnzeel, 1990) due to high evaporation. To observe increases in low-flows following tree planting, the increase in evaporation must be a smaller than the increase in infiltration (the so called 'infiltration trade-off hypothesis') but evidence to support this hypothesis has not yet been produced (Bruijnzeel, 2004).

The systematic review of impacts of forest restoration on water yield (Filoso *et al.* 2017) found that most studies reported a decrease in water yields resulting from an increase in forest area. In a general global assessment (Farley *et al.*, 2005) annual runoff was found to be reduced on average by 44% (\pm 3%) and 31% (\pm 2%) when grasslands and shrublands were afforested, respectively. Many of these studies are of planting of non-native forests, such as

eucalyptus and pines. Eucalyptus tree are known to be high water users in other continents especially India. They have deep roots that can continue to take up water as they lower the water table, though water use tends to diminish over time if the water table becomes very low (Calder *et al.*, 1993).

A systematic review by Smith *et al.* (2017) noted particularly that fast-growing commercial plantations of non-native species, such as pine and eucalyptus, reduced water supply in arid regions, while native forests could enhance water supply through improving infiltration or (in cloud forests) capturing atmospheric moisture (though the studies supporting this latter conclusion were not from Africa).

In the absence of direct measurements of the effects of deforestation and afforestation, particularly at large scale, researchers have turned to use of mathematical computer models. Sáenz *et al.* (2014) modelled water balances in Colombia and predicted that if cloud forests are restored to 36% of the catchment, the water inflow to the dam downstream increases by 5.9%. Modelling of catchments in Indonesia, Sri Lanka, Brazil and Tanzania (miombo woodland) found that the impacts of forest removal is highly seasonal; whilst typically increasing mean annual water yield, dry-season flows can decrease depending on pre- and post-forest removal surface conditions and groundwater response times (Peña-Arancibia *et al.*, 2019). Modelling of reforestation in Brazil generally decreased water quantity throughout the whole basin, though increases were noted in some parts of the basin (Ferreira *et al.* 2019). Computer simulated deforestation of 20% and 40% within the Xingu River basin, Brazil, increased discharge by 4-8% and 10-12%, but deforestation of the Amazon region more generally could reduce discharge by 6-36% (Strickler *et al.* 2013). None of these model predictions were tested with observed data.

The high water use of trees has been incorporated within water policy in South Africa, where forestry is classified as a Streamflow Reduction Activity (SFRA) under the National Water Act of 1998 (Gush *et al.*, 2002), such that no forestry can be practiced without an SFRA licence (Edwards & Roberts, 2006). However, some organisation promote trees as a solution to drought (TreeAid, 2019).

Previous reviews have found that at small spatial scales (< 20 km²) forests can reduce flood flows, but not for the most extreme floods, and measured data for impacts in larger catchments (> 100 km²) are lacking (Dadson *et al.* 2017). Stratford *et al.* (2017) also found that studies of large catchments were limited to modelling due to lack of empirical data. However, this review was limited to biogeographical regions similar to the UK, and thus excluded empirical catchment studies in North America where large-scale deforestation has been associated with significant increases in peak flow (Smith *et al.*, 2017). In the current evidence review for Africa, many (6 of 9) of the large (>200 km²) catchment studies used models. Some authors have examined the hydrological processes involved in flooding and concluded that infiltrationexcess overland flow, when floods are caused by water not being able to infiltrate into the soil, produces very little river flow in most vegetated areas (Dubreuil, 1985), so planting trees cannot significantly reduce peak flows generated by this mechanism (Chappell et al., 2006. Only in localised areas of very slowly permeable topsoil (e.g. FAO Gleysol, FAO Vertisol) that coincide with areas dominated by intense rainfall (e.g. areas below the tracks of tropical cyclones or extreme rainfall events in other areas of the globe), might the effect of trees on infiltration capacity affect floods, but evidence is lacking (Zimmerman *et al.*, 2012).

A review of evidence of the role of wetlands in hydrological cycles (Bullock & Acreman, 2003) and follow-up research (Acreman & Holden, 2013) concluded that the relationship between wetlands and floods depends largely on available water storage. Upstream wetlands, such as dambos in Africa, predominantly generate or enhance floods (compared to catchments without these headwater wetlands) because they quickly become saturated at the start of the wet season and then generate rapid runoff. In contrast, downstream floodplains

reduce floods as they tend to be dry before floods and have large storage volumes. These reviews also conclude that in most cases, wetlands reduce downstream water resource quantity due to high evaporation, which can be extremely high in hot climates (Hollis, 1992).

The conclusions that some wetlands generate floods and most reduce water resource quantity seems at odds with the widely held perception that wetlands "act like a sponge", soaking-up water during wet periods and releasing it during dry periods (*e.g.* Bucher et al, 1993). This concept has been promoted by many organisations, such as IUCN-The World Conservation Union (Dugan, 1990), Wetlands International (Davis and Claridge, 1993) and the Ramsar Convention on Wetlands of International Importance (Davis, 1993). They have influenced international wetland policy (OECD, 1996) and its uptake at the national (*e.g.* Zimbabwe and Uganda), and continental levels e.g. Europe (CEC, 1995) and Asia (Howe *et al*, 1992). A major cause of inconsistency between science and policy stems from the general use of the term 'wetland' with the implications that all wetlands perform all services equally. This review has reconfirmed the finding that different wetlands act hydrologically in different ways, reinforcing the need to use more specific terminology, such as floodplain or dambo.

A review of the potential for constructed wetlands for wastewater treatment and reuse in developing countries (Kivaisi, 2001) found these to be effective and efficient for wastewater treatment, and additionally they are low cost, easily operated and maintained, and have a strong potential for application in developing countries, particularly by small rural communities.

5.3 Comparison with Oxford University database

The Oxford University Nature-based Solutions Initiative evidence platform (http://www.nature-basedsolutionsevidence.info) was examined in particular to assess evidence for forest types not found in African case studies, such as tropical rainforests and cloud forests (Table 15). This database contained 10 references to studies of forest restoration and protection outside of Africa labelled as positive for water availability. Oxford database entries were collated using different selection criteria than used for this Task 1 study. Some of the entries were reviews, so to avoid reviewer interpretations and double-counting, these publications were not used directly, but their citations and reference lists were scanned for studies with primary data. Other references considered single hydrological parameters such as interception, evapotranspiration and infiltration; these could not be included in the Task 1 study, as they did not assess directly downstream water resource quantity or quality or floods. It is important to note that entries to the database labelled as negative for water availability were not assessed.

Benegas *et al.* (2024) studied tropical savannahs in Costa Rica, comparing infiltration in coffee growing areas under trees with areas without trees. Trees were found to improve infiltrability. Brauman *et al.* (2010) explored rainfall and cloud interception in two native rainforest sites on leeward Hawaii island. Throughfall in one forest was nearly double that in the other due to increased cloud interception in the denser forest resulting from cattle exclusion and limited grazing.

Brauman *et al.* (2012) measured evapotranspiration from trees and grasses at Kona, Hawaii. They found that while evapotranspiration is very low in all of these forest and pasture ecosystems, modelled values from pasture were higher than from forests. In a review Hamilton (1995) reported net precipitation is significantly enhanced by direct canopy interception of cloud water in rainforests of Hawaii; he quoted Stadtmüller (1987), who quoted results of studies indicating cloud water capture values as a percent of normal precipitation ranging from 7 percent (Baynton, 1969) to 158 percent (Juvik & Ekern, 1978). Gomez-Peralta *et al* (2008) evaluated the importance of cloud/fog water to montane forests in two forests in the eastern Andes of central Peru. Annual net precipitation was 92.4% and

70.4% of rainfall at the upper and lower sites respectively due to differences in interception and interception losses. Ilstedt et al. (2007) reviewed four papers containing 14 studies of the effects of afforestation on infiltrability in the tropics. They found that infiltration capacity increased on average approximately three-fold after planting trees in agricultural fields. Kagawa et al. (2009) measured sap flow in native Metrosideros polymorpha forest and adjacent alien timber plantations on the island of Hawaii and estimated total stand transpiration. *Metrosideros polymorpha* had the lower sap flux and water use than timber species Eucalyptus saligna or Fraxinus uhdei. Sáenz, & Mulligan (2013) reported that whilst cloud affected forests (CAFs) cover only 4.4% of the extent of dam watersheds in tropical regions, they receive and filter 21% of the surface water balance. High cloud water interception and reduced actual evapo-transpiration mean cloud affected forests are likely to be wetter than their lowland counterparts. They modelled water balances of catchments containing cloud forests across the tropics that contain important dams, but they state that they "did not explore the impact of CAFs loss in the delivery of this water". None of these studies referred to in this paragraph included measurements of downstream water resource quantity, so there is no direct evidence and impacts would need to be inferred.

In a review, Bruijnzeel (2001) reported that due to added moisture inputs from cloud water interception and relatively low water use, water yields for a given amount of rainfall from cloud forested headwater areas tend to be higher than streamflow volumes emanating from montane forests not affected by fog and low cloud. In other reviews the same author states that "conversion of tropical forests of any kind to annual cropping or grazing is almost inevitably followed by increases in amounts of surface runoff during the wet season" (Bruijnzeel, 1990), "with diminished streamflow during the dry season" (Bruijnzeel, 1989; 2000). These review conclusions seem to be based on one study in Java (RIN, 1985) which reports a decline in river flows by 20% in the Kali Konto river in east Java from 1915-1942 (when the catchment was largely forests) to 1951-1972 (by which time a 'fair proportion' of the forest had been converted to shrubland, dryland agriculture and urban areas). The likely different impacts of forest removal and urbanisation are not separated. In another review, Bruijnzeel (2000) concluded that total annual water yield appears to increase with the percentage of forest biomass removed, but actual amounts differ between sites and years due to differences in rainfall and degree of surface disturbance. If surface disturbance remains limited, most of the water yield increase occurs as baseflow (low flows), but rainfall infiltration is often reduced to the extent that insufficient rainy season replenishment of groundwater reserves results in strong declines in dry season flows. However, in later research, Bruijnzeel et al. (2010) found that conversion of cloud forest to pasture in northern Costa Rica did *not* produce the expected decreases in annual or even seasonal water yield; rather the effect on streamflow was more or less neutral. Furthermore, Bruijnzeel et al. (2011) reported that conversion of lower montane rain forest or tall lower montane cloud forest to pasture in Mexico likely results in substantial increases in water yield because of low cloud water interception by the local lower montane cloud forest and a much higher water consumption by the cloud forest than by pasture. They concluded that changes in water yield after upper montane cloud forest conversion are probably modest due to tradeoffs between concurrent changes in evapotranspiration and 'cloud-water' interception.

Bruijnzeel *et al.* (2010) undertook comparisons of rain forest type and reported that catchment water yields typically increase from lower montane rain forest to tall lower montane cloud forest sub-alpine cloud forest reflecting concurrent increases in incident precipitation and decreases in evaporative losses. Singh & Mishra (2012) compared three types of tropical forest in the western Ghats of India (1) primary forest (with no or inconsequential human disturbance), (2) mature secondary forests (regenerating largely through natural processes after significant human and/or natural disturbance) and (3) disturbed forests (that have been exploited on moderate to large scale for timber, fuel wood, fodder, shifting cultivation. They found that the old forests were observed to positively and highly significantly influence runoff coefficient (a measure of water yield). This study provides evidence about forest management, but not about the impact on water resource quantity of deforestation or afforestation.

From the publications in the Oxford database, three are transferable to Africa using the criteria in this evidence review. (1) removing tropical forests in Java reduced dry-season water availability downstream, though this could be the result of urban developments that replaced the forest (2) cloud forest conversion in Mexico would lead to a major local increase in water availability; and (3) conversion of cloud forest to pasture in Costa Rica had no effect on water yield. These results do not provide sufficiently consistent evidence to produce relationships between changes in forest cover and water resource quantity in Africa.

5.4 Management associated with interventions

The case studies found for Africa were almost entirely concerned with the presence or absence of features or interventions that can be termed nature-based solutions, e.g. forests v. grassland, wetland v. no wetland. However, associated management, such as pre-afforestation ploughing, thinning of trees or removal of undergrowth and draining or grazing vegetation of natural wetlands, was rarely mentioned, so their hydrological implications could not be assessed.

Nature-based solutions are actions taken to protect, restore, create or sustainably manage ecosystems. In practice it is not easy to create headwater wetlands or floodplains (although constructed urban water balancing ponds might be considered as floodplains). The flood reduction function of a floodplain can be eliminated by separating it from its river by embankments. A nature-based solution might be to remove the embankment and restore the service of flood reduction. For example, embanking the River Cherwell, UK, to isolate the floodplain from the river increased flood peaks by 50-150% (Acreman et al., 2003). The physical hydraulics of rivers and floodplains are fairly universal, so such findings could be relevant to Africa. For headwater wetlands, a management action might be to drain water to prevent saturation or flooding (e.g. to improve agriculture), but this would not be classed as a nature-based solution as it would work against, not with, the natural ecosystem of the wetland and would have negative impacts on biodiversity. A nature-based action might be to block the drains to re-establish wet conditions. No publications were found that discussed this issue in Africa. Studies in Europe and North America have found that blocking drains can sometimes increase floods and sometimes decrease floods depending on many factors including drainage network configuration, vegetation and soil type (Acreman & Holden, 2013), but the relevance of these findings to African wetlands is uncertain because these factors are likely to differ.

The type of vegetation planted in constructed wetlands can play an important role in their performance. In Uganda wetlands planted with *Cyperus. papyrus* had higher COD removal rates than those planted with *Phragmities mauritianus* (Okurut *et al.* 1999). Likewise, in Ethiopia, the nutrient removal efficiency of *Typha* was higher than *Phragmites australis* and *Scirpus* (Timotewos *et al.* 2017).

Some wetlands are so effective at removing nutrients that these can build-up in the wetland soil to high levels and exceed the concentrations in the water input, therefore turning from a sink to a source. Because of this water exiting the Natete wetland, Uganda, was found to have higher phosphorous than water entering (Kanyiginya *et al.*, 2010). This can be alleviated by periodically removing sediment mechanically from the wetland.

There is also evidence around the world that restoration of river channel morphology and floodplain woodlands with associated large wood logjams may reduce flood risk (Sear *et al.* 2010). Flood peak attenuation by floodplains is sensitive to surface roughness, such as the presence of trees or shrubs (Hall *et al.*, 2005. Nature-based solutions may be enhanced by

engineering nature. For example, flood attenuation at Holnicote, UK, was achieved predominantly by building artificial deflectors on the floodplains rather than the presence of the floodplain itself (National Trust, 2015). Constructed wetlands are also good examples of engineering nature to enhance ecosystem functions. No evidence was found for similar activities in Africa.

Many nature-based solutions are forms of naturalising engineering (rather than engineering nature) including green roofs, sustainable urban drainage and environmental flow releases from dams. Only a few examples were found for Africa that assessed impacts on downstream water metrics.

5.5 Location of intervention with the catchment

In some case studies of small catchments or plots, forest covered all or most of the catchment area. For larger catchments, the area covered by forests was usually reported in the case studies and occasionally the publication included a map showing many forest patches spread across the catchment. Hence it was not possible to identify the location of the forest (e.g. headwaters) or to calculate an index of fragmentation. Furthermore, hydrological metrics were reported at a single measuring point, none reported changes at different distances downstream. In the case of natural wetlands, the hydrological assessment point was normally immediately downstream, so effectively the wetland was located at the downstream extreme. For constructed wetlands, the hydrological measures were inputs to and outputs from the systems, so effectively upstream and downstream of the wetland.

The potential for different hydrological impacts resulting from interventions in different parts of a catchment has been discussed theoretically (e.g. Ramsbottom, 1993) and used for the design of urban flood management schemes (Strandskov, 2014). For example, a floodplain wetland on a tributary may reduce flood flows immediately downstream, but this may also delay the peak such that it coincides with the flood peak coming down the main river, which can increase the peak flow downstream of the confluence. A rare study in Scotland (Acreman, 1985) found that afforestation of the lower catchment resulted in reduced flood peaks, whilst similar practices upstream increased peak flows. The searches did not reveal evidence on the issues of synchronisation and de-synchronisation in Africa.

5.6 Temporal aspects

Most studies reported downstream hydrological changes for specific single periods. However, a few studies reported several periods that showed how flow reductions resulting from afforestation varied with the age of the trees. For example, during clear-felling and replanting pine trees in Jonkershoek, South Africa, flows increased after deforestation and returned to preclearing levels within 12 years; reductions increased to a peak after 20 years and thereafter reductions declined in magnitude (Scott *et al.*, 2000). Similarly, most studies using flood metrics reported a single time period after deforestation. One exception was in Kapchorwa, Kenya, where the conversion from forest to agricultural land in the first 5 years caused about half of the total observed increases in discharge in relation to rainfall (Recha *et al.*, 2012).

In case studies of constructed wetlands, residence time was reported as important. For example, the effectiveness of COD reduction increased as retention times increased from 0.5 to 5 days in Arusha, Tanzania (Mtavangu *et al.*, 2017).

5.7 Inter-catchment and regional scale impacts of nature-based solutions

The classical view of the hydrological cycle, a single loop, implies that rainfall is largely driven by evaporation from sea and that most precipitation finds its way back to the sea through the land. Embedded within this concept is a notion that evaporation from land is a loss and not a significant input to the cycle (many studies use the term 'evaporation loss'. However, it is now widely accepted that different hydrological cycles operate at different scales and that there are linkages between catchments at regional, continental and global scales and within catchments at local scale. This perspective is also important as it replaces the idea of evaporation as a loss with the understanding that it may become a gain elsewhere.

Hydro-meteorological models have been employed to study water circulation at regional and global scale. Deforestation of tropical regions has been found to significantly affect precipitation at mid- and high latitudes (Avissar & Worth, 2005). Ellison *et al.* 2012 argue that whilst trees can reduce runoff at the small catchment scale – at larger scales, trees are more clearly linked to increased precipitation and water availability. In computer simulated deforestation, Strickler *et al.* (2013) found that whilst deforestation within the Xingu River basin increased discharge locally, deforestation of the Amazon region reduced rainfall decreasing discharge within the basin. It has similarly been suggested that evaporation from the Sudd wetlands is important for rainfall generation in the Ethiopian Highlands (Hurst, 1938). However, it has been argued more recently that the impact of Sudd evaporation on the regional hydrological budget of the Nile Basin is insignificant compared to the inter-annual rainfall variability owing to the relatively small area covered by the wetland (Mohamed *et al.*, 2006) and that there would be negligible impact if Sudd evaporation declined or ceased due to building the Jonglei canal (Mohammed *et al.*, 2005).

Whilst it is recognised that, for example, reduced river flows downstream of a new forest may mean greater flows in a neighbouring catchment, generated by evaporation from the forest, this review focuses only on the direct downstream hydrological implications of water-related nature-based solutions.

5.8 Benefits, synergies and trades-off

The results of the evidence review are presented in terms of changes in water metrics (floods, water quality, water quantity). These changes need to be analysed to determine the impacts on people and wildlife. Reductions in pollutants in rivers are normally positive for everyone. Reductions in flooding are positive for people and infrastructure (e.g. roads, hospitals, factories and housing) at risk of flooding, but the same reductions may be negative for flood-dependent ecosystems, such as floodplain wetlands. The human impact of changes in river flow volume depends on how water resources are managed. Increases in wet season flows are beneficial for reservoirs that support irrigation, public supply or hydropower generation, whereas increases in dry season flows are beneficial where abstractions are made directly from flowing rivers.

The aim of this review was to assess the evidence for changes to water-climate risks resulting from nature-based solutions, such as reducing floods or improving water quality in a cost-effective, sustainable manner. However, the wider literature promotes nature-based solutions as typically delivering multiple benefits for both nature and people, such as carbon sequestration, local micro-climate amelioration and biodiversity enhancement as well as water management (Ellison et al., 2017; Abell *et al.* 2017; WWAP, 2018; Chausson *et al.*, in press). Even constructed wetlands, which focus on pollutant removal and may involve monocultures of reeds, potentially offer multiple benefits compared to the 'grey infrastructure' equivalent of a purely engineered water treatment plant, including aesthetic value, carbon sequestration and potentially some biodiversity benefit. In a similar way, restoring river channel geometry and reinstating woody debris is primarily a hydraulic

device for reducing floods, but it normally increases habitat diversity. However, protection and restoration of native ecosystems (including grassland and savannahs) is more likely to deliver benefits for biodiversity as well as multiple benefits for people, compared to actions such as constructed wetlands or afforestation with non-native species.

Whilst well-designed nature-based solutions offer multiple benefits, there may also be significant trade-offs (Raymond et al. 2017). Hydrological restoration of peat wetlands may reduce carbon dioxide emissions but can also increase methane emissions (Acreman et al., 2011). Trade-offs can also arise if climate mitigation policy encourages nature-based solutions with low biodiversity value, such as afforestation with non-native monocultures (Seddon et al., 2020). Few such trade-offs are empirically documented (Frantzeskaki et al. 2019), but major reviews e.g. by Smith et al. (2017) and Chausson et al. (in press) found that the main trade-off is the potential for afforestation (particularly with non-native species) to reduce downstream water resource quantity, even though it may provide other benefits such as reducing soil erosion and river sedimentation. In these situations, removing non-native plantations and restoring native grassland or savannah could be a nature-based solution if the main objective is to increase downstream water resource quantity, and this would also bring biodiversity benefits. However, deforestation of native woodlands would not be consistent with most definitions of nature-based solutions 'to protect, sustainably manage, and restore natural or modified ecosystems'. This review has also highlighted further potential trade-offs between wetland restoration and flood risk or water supply, although again drainage of a natural wetland in order to attempt to mitigate these issues would meet not the other objectives in definitions of nature-based solutions described above.

Furthermore, different groups of people may benefit or suffer from nature-based interventions depending on their livelihoods and location within a catchment. Many mechanisms have been proposed to deal with trade-offs, such as economic valuation of, or payments for, ecosystem services, in which those who may lose from an intervention are compensated by those who gain, but further analysis of this is beyond the scope of this report. A coherent framework for river management research, policy and planning should focuses on (a) the ways in which political economy, institutions and infrastructure mediate access and entitlements to benefits derived from ecosystem services, and (b) the feedbacks and trade-offs between investments in physical and social structures and processes (Tickner *et al.*, 2017).

5.9 Gaps

This review found 10 633 publications related to nature-based solutions in Africa, of which 150 held new empirical data, so few are contributing to new knowledge. Previous authors have identified knowledge gaps on the effectiveness of nature-based solutions, especially on trade-offs and synergies concerning water management, biodiversity, human health, social and economic issues (Kabisch *et al.*, 2016). Most studies of changes in forest cover have been of commercial non-native species; more work on reforestation using native species is required. Published studies tend to describe binary situations i.e. with/without interventions and there is little information on the impacts of management, such as drainage of wetlands. More work is also needed on effects of the siting of nature-based interventions within catchments and whether their location in upstream areas has a different impact than putting them downstream or on a tributary.

Many nature-based solutions are forms of naturalising engineering (rather than engineering nature) including green roofs, sustainable urban drainage and environmental flow releases from dams. Only a few examples were found for Africa that assessed impacts on downstream water metrics.

Key research topics are:

- Hydrological effects of native forest reforestation
- Effects of management such as grazing, drainage, tree thinning, undergrowth removal
- Effects of the location of nature-based solutions with a catchment
- Monitoring downstream at various locations to assess propagation of effects
- Long term monitoring to assess changes over time following interventions
- Studies of channel restoration, including reintroduction of meanders and woody debris, reconnection of rivers and floodplains
- Continental scale assessment of hydrological effects beyond the catchment of interventions

6. Conclusions

This evidence review found 10 633 publications related to nature-based solutions in Africa. Of these 150 reported new empirical information on the effectiveness of water-related nature-based solutions, generating 492 case studies with a wide distribution across Africa. In general forests and floodplain wetlands provide a potential nature-based solution to floods, and sediment generation, whilst constructed wetlands reduce water pollution. Generally, headwater wetlands and non-native forests tend to reduce water resource quantity downstream, so are not useful solutions to water problems, whilst the evidence is inconsistent for native forests. Although there is a need for more studies, this database of the results from these publications provides a basis for Task 2: spatial analysis of Africa to identify likely hotspots for nature-based solutions to climate-water risks and Task 3: spatial analysis to identify overlaps between nature-based solution hotspots and biodiversity hotspots, with particular reference to freshwater biodiversity. Information provided by the case studies allows relationships between interventions and impacts to be estimated. The potential exists to resolve some inconsistent results by examining contextual information.

7. References

7.1 General references

Abell, R., et al. 2017. *Beyond the Source: The Environmental, Economic and Community Benefits of Source Water Protection.* The Nature Conservancy, Arlington, VA, USA.

Acreman, M.C. 1985 The effects of afforestation on the flood hydrology of the Upper Ettrick valley. *Scottish Forestry*, 39, 2, 89-99

Acreman, M.C., Booker, D.J. & Riddington, R. 2003 Hydrological impacts of floodplain restoration: a case study of the river Cherwell, UK. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*. 7,1, 75-86

Acreman, M.C, Harding, R.J., Lloyd, C., McNamara, N.P., Mountford, J.O., Mould, D.J., Purse, B.V., Heard, M.S., Stratford, C.J., Dury, S. 2011 Trade-off in ecosystem services of the Somerset Levels and Moors wetlands *Hydrological Sciences Journal*. 56, 8

Acreman, M.C., Holden, J. 2013 Do wetlands reduce floods? *Wetlands* 33:773–786

Adamus, P.R. & Stockwell L.T. 1983. *A method for wetland functional assessment: Volume I, Critical review and evaluation concepts.* Federal Highway Agency FHWA-IP-82-23, U.S. Dept. of Transporation, Washington, USA. 176pp.

Adimassu, Z., Langan, S., Johnston, R. *et al.* 2017 Impacts of Soil and Water Conservation Practices on Crop Yield, Run-off, Soil Loss and Nutrient Loss in Ethiopia: Review and Synthesis. *Environmental Management* 59, 87–101 doi: 10.1007/s00267-016-0776-1

Andréssian, C. 2004 Waters and forests: from historical controversy to scientific debate. *Journal Hydrol*ogy 291, 1-27

Avissar, R. & Werth, D. 2005 Global Hydroclimatological Teleconnections Resulting from Tropical Deforestation *Journal of Hydrometeorology*, 6, 2, 134-145 doi: 10.1175/JHM406.1

Bauer, P., Thabeng, G., Stauffer, F. & Kinzelbach, W. 2004 Estimation of the evapotranspiration rate from diurnal groundwater level fluctuations in the Okavango Delta, Botswana *Journal of Hydrology* 288, 344–355

Baynton, H. W. 1969 The ecology of an elfin forest in Puerto Rico. Hill top and forest influences on the microclimate of Pico del Oeste. *Journal of the Arnold Arboretum*, 50, 80-92.

Benegas, L., Ilstedt, U. Roupsard, O. Jones, J. & A. Malmer, A. 2014 Effects of trees on infiltrability and preferential flow in two contrasting agroecosystems in Central America. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 183: 185–196. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2013.10. 027

Bourne, A., Holness, S., Holden, P., Scorgie, S., Donatti, C.I. & Midgley, G. 2016 A Socio-Ecological Approach for Identifying and Contextualising Spatial Ecosystem-Based Adaptation Priorities at the Sub-National Level. *PLoS ONE* 11, 5, e0155235.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0155 235

Brauman, K. A., Freyberg, D.L. & Daily, G.C. 2010 Forest structure influences on rainfall partitioning and cloud interception: A comparison of native forest sites in Kona, Hawai. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 150(2): 265-275. 10.1016/j.agrformet.2009.11.011

Brauman, K.A., Freyberg, D.L. & Daily, G.C. 2012 Potential evapotranspiration from forest and pasture in the tropics: A case study in Kona, Hawai. Journal of Hydrology 440-441, 52-61. 10.1016/j.jhydrol.2012.03.014

Bruijnzeel, L.A., 1989. (De)forestation and dry season flow in the humid tropics: a

closer look. *Journal of Tropical Forest Science* 1: 229-243.

Bruijnzeel, L.A., 1990. *Hydrology of moist tropical forests and effects of conversion: a state of knowledge review*. UNESCO International Hydrological Programme, Paris, France.

Bruijnzeel, L.A. 2004. Hydrological functions of tropical forests: not seeing the soil for the trees? *Agriculture Ecosystems and Environment* 104, 185-228.

Bruijnzeel, L.A., 2000. Tropical forests and environmental services: not seeing the soil for the trees? *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*.

Bruijnzeel, L.A., 2001 Hydrology of Tropical Montane Cloud Forests: A Reassessment Second International Colloquium on Hydrology and Water Management in the Humid Tropics

Bruijnzeel, L.A., Kappelle, M., Mulligan, M. & Scatena, F.N. 2010 Tropical montane cloud forests: State of knowledge and sustainability perspectives in a changing world. In: Bruijnzeel, L.A., Scatena, F.N. & Hamilton, L.S. (eds) *Tropical Montane Cloud Forests: Science for Conservation and Management*, Cambridge University Press.

Bruijnzeel, L.A., Mulligan, M. & Scatena, F.N. 2011 Hydrometeorology of tropical montane cloud forests: emerging patterns. *Hydrological Processes* [Special Issue: Hydrometeorology of tropical montane cloud forests] 25, 3 465-498

Bucher, E.H., Bonetto, A., Boyle T., Canevari P., Castro G., Huszar P. and Stone, T., 1993. *Hidrovia- an initial environmental examination of the Paraguay - Parana waterway*. Wetlands for the Americas Publication No. 10, Manomet, MA, USA, 72p.

Bulcock and G. P. W. Jewitt, H.H. 2012 Field data collection and analysis of canopy and litter interception in commercial forest plantations in the KwaZulu-Natal Midlands, South Africa *Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci.*, 16, 3717–3728 doi:10.5194/hess-16-3717-2012

Bullock A. & Acreman, M.C. 2003 The role of wetlands in the hydrological cycle. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*. 7,3, 75-86.

Burt, T. P., 1995. The role of wetlands in runoff generation from headwater catchments. In: *Hydrology and hydrochemistry of British wetlands*, J. Hughes and L. Heathwaite (Eds.) Wiley, Chichester, UK. 21-38

Calder, I.R., Hall, R.L. & Prasanna, K.T. 1993 Hydrological impact of *Eucalyptus* plantation in India *Journal of Hydrology*, 150, 635-648

Cavan, G., S. Lindley, F. Jalayer, K. Yeshitela, S. Pauleit, F. Renner, S. Gill, P. Capuano, A. Nebebe, T. Woldegerima, D. Kibassa & R. Shemdoe. 2014. Urban morphological determinants of temperature regulating ecosystem services in two African cities. Ecological Indicators 42:43-57.

CEC, 1995. *Wise use and conservation of wetlands*. Communication from the Commission to the Council and the European Parliament, Commission of the European Communities COM(95) 189 (final), 54p.

Ceperley, N.C., Mande, T., van de Giesen, N., Tyler, S., Yacouba, H. & Parlange, M.B. 2017 Evaporation from cultivated and semi-wild Sudanian Savanna in west Africa Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci., 21, 4149– 4167, 2017 https://doi.org/10.5194/hess-21-4149-2017

Chappell, N.A. 2005. Water pathways in humid forests: myths vs observations. Suiri Kagaku. *Water Science* 48, 32-46.

Chappell, N.A. 2006. Discussion Note: Comments by Nick A Chappell on "Forests and Floods: Moving to an Evidence-based Approach to Watershed and Integrated Flood Management. by Ian R. Calder and Bruce Aylward. Published in Water International 31, March 2006: 87-99. Water International 31, 541-543.

Chausson, A., Turner, C.B., Seddon, D., Chabaneix, N., Girardin, C., Key, I., Smith, A., Woroniecki, S. and Seddon, N. (in press) Mapping the effectiveness of nature-based solutions for climate change adaptation. Global Change Biology (accepted manuscript).

Coe, M.T., Costa, M.H. & Soares-Filho, B.S. 2009 The influence of historical and potential future deforestation on the stream flow of the Amazon River - Land surface processes and atmospheric feedbacks. Journal of Hydrology 369, 1-2.165-174

doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2009.02.043

Cohen-Shacham, E., Andrade, A., Dalton, J., Dudley, N., Jones, M., Kumar, C., Maginnis, S., Maynard, S., Nelson, C.R., Renaud, F.G., Welling, R., Walters, G. 2019. Core principles for successfully implementing and upscaling Nature-based Solutions. Environ. Sci. Policy 98, 20–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2019.04. 014

Cohen-Shacham, E., Walters, G., Janzen, C. and Maginnis, S. (eds.) 2016. Naturebased Solutions to address global societal challenges. Gland, Switzerland: IUCN. xiii + 97pp.

CRGE 2011 Ethiopia's Green Economy Strategy. The federal democratic republic of Ethiopia.

Critchley, W. and Di Prima, S. (eds.) 2012. Water Harvesting Technologies Revisited. Deliverable 2.1 of the FP7 Project Water Harvesting Technologies: Potentials for Innovations, Improvements and Upscaling in sub-Saharan Africa. Amsterdam, Vrije Universiteit

Davies, J., Claridge C.F., 1993. Wetland benefits: the potential for wetlands to support and maintain development. Asian Wetland Bureau Publication No. 87: IWRB Spec. Publ. 27: Wetlands for the America Publication No. 11. Asian Wetland Bureau, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, 45p.

Davis, T.J., 1993. Towards the wise use of wetlands. Ramsar Convention Bureau, Gland Switzerland, 180p.

Dadson, S., Hall, J., Murgatroyd, A., Acreman, M., Bates, P., Beven, K., Heathwaite, L., Holden, J., Holman, I., Lane, S., O'Connell, E., Penning-Rowsell, E., Reynard, N., Sear, D., Thorne, C., Wilby, R. 2017 A restatement of the natural science evidence concerning catchment-based "natural" flood management in the United Kingdom. Proceedings of the Royal Society A.

Douglas, I. 2018 The challenge of urban poverty for the use of green infrastructure on floodplains and wetlands to reduce flood impacts in intertropical Africa Landscape and Urban Planning, 180, 262-272

Dubreuil, P.L. 1985. Review of field observations of runoff generation in the tropics. Journal of Hydrology, 80, 237-264

Dugan, P. J., 1990. Wetland conservation a review of current issues and required action. IUCN - The World Conservation Union, Gland, Switzerland, 96p.

Edwards, M.B.P. & Roberts, P.J. 2006 Managing forests for water: the South African experience International Forestry Review, 8, 1, 65-71 doi: 10.1505/ifor.8.1.65

Eggermont, H. et al. 2015 Nature-based Solutions: New Influence for Environmental Management and Research in Europe GAIA 24/4, 243 - 248 doi: 10.14512/gaia.24.4.9

Ellison, D.N., Futter, M., Bishop, K., 2012. On the forest cover-water yield debate: from demand- to supply-side thinking. Glob. Change Biol. 18, 806-820. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486..02589.x.

Ellison, D., Morris, C.E., Locatelli, B., Sheil, D., Cohen, J., Murdiyarso, D., Gutierrez, V., van Noordwijk, M., Creed, I.F., Pokorny, J., Gaveau, D., Spracklen,

D.V., Bargués Tobella, A., Ilstedt, U., Teuling, A.J., Gebrehiwot, S.G., Sands, D.C., Muys, B., Verbist, B., Springgay, E., Sugandi, Y. & Sullivan, C.A. 2017 Trees, forests and water: Cool insights for a hot world. *Global Environmental Change*, 43, 51–61.

Escobedo, F.J., Giannico, V., Jim, C.Y., Sanesi, G., Lafortezza, R. 2019 Urban forests, ecosystem services, green infrastructure and nature-based solutions: Nexus or evolving metaphors? *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening*. 37, 3-12 doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2018.02.011

European Commission 2015. *Towards an EU research and innovation policy agenda for nature-based solutions & renaturing cities*: final report of the Horizon 2020 expert group on 'Nature-based solutions and re-naturing cities'. Publications Office of the European Union.

Farley, K.A., Jobbágy, E.G. & Jackson, R.B. 2005 Effects of afforestation on water yield: a global synthesis with implications for policy. *Global Change Biology*, 11, 10, 1565-1576 doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2005.01011.x

Filoso, S., Bezerra, M.O., Weiss, K.C.B. & Palmer, M.A. 2017 Impacts of forest restoration on water yield: A systematic review. *PLoS ONE*, 12, e0183210. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.

Ferreira, P., van Soesbergen, A., Mulligan, M., Freitas, M. & Vale, M.M. 2019 Can forests buffer negative impacts of land-use and climate changes on water ecosystem services? The case of a Brazilian megalopolis *Science of the Total Environment* 685, 248–258

Fisher-Jeffes, L., Carden, K. & Armitage, N. 2017 A water sensitive urban design framework for South Africa *Town and Regional Planning*, 71.

Frantzeskaki, N., McPhearson, T., Collier, M.J., Kendal, D., Bulkeley, H., Dumitru, A., Walsh, C.,Noble, K., van Wyk, E., Ordonez, C., Oke, C. and Pinter, L. 2019 Nature-Based Solutions for Urban Climate Change Adaptation: Linking Science, Policy, and Practice Communities for Evidence-Based Decision-Making *BioScience*, 69, 6. 455-466 doi:10.1093/biosci/biz042

Giertz, S., Junge, B. & Diekkrüger, B. 2005 Assessing the effects of land use change on soil physical properties and hydrological processes in the sub-humid tropical environment of West Africa *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth*, Parts A/B/C 30, 8–10, 485-496

Gomez-Cardenas, M. 2009. Transpiration by contrasting vegetation cover types in the montane cloud forest belt of eastern Mexico. Ph.D. thesis, Iowa State University, Ames, IA, USA. Gomez-Peralta, D., Oberbauer, S.F., McClain, M.E. & Philippi, T.E. 2008 Rainfall and cloud-water interception in tropical montane forests in the eastern Andes of Central Peru. Forest Ecology and Management 255: 1315-1325.. 10.1016/j.foreco.2007.10.058

Hall, J. W., Tarantola, S., Bates, P. D. & Horritt, M. S. 2005b. Distributed Sensitivity Analysis of Flood Inundation Model Calibration. *Journal of Hydraulic Engineering*, 131, 117-126.

Hanson, H., Veerkamp, C., Nordin, A., Lazarova, T., Hedlund, K., Olsson, P. & Schipper, A. 2017 Assessment of biophysical and ecological services provided by urban nature-based solutions: a review. Deliverable 1.3 Part II to Horizon 2020. Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency and Lund University.

Herslund, L., Backhaus, A., Fryd, O., Jorgensen, G., Jensen, M.B., Limbumba, T.M., Liu, L., Mguni, P., Mkupasi, M., Workalemahu, L. & Yeshitela, K. 2018 Conditions and opportunities for green infrastructure – Aiming for green, waterresilient cities in Addis Ababa and Dar es Salaam. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 180, 319-32 Hewlett, J.D. and Hibbert, A.R., 1967. Factors affecting the response of small watersheds to precipitation in humid regions. In: W. E. Sopper and H. W. Lull (Eds) *Forest Hydrology*, Pergamon Press, Oxford., UK, 275-290.

Holden, J., Chapman, P.J., Labadz, J.C. 2004. Artificial drainage of peatlands: hydrological and hydrochemical process and wetland restoration. *Progress in Physical Geography* 28, 95–123

Hollis, G. E. 1990 Environmental impacts of development on wetlands in arid and semi-arid lands, Hydrological Sciences Journal, 35:4, 411-428, DOI: 10.1080/02626669009492443

Hollis, G. E. 1992 The hydrological functions of wetlands and their management. In: Gerakis, P.A. 1992. Conservation and Management of Greek Wetlands: Proceedings of a Greek Wetlands Workshop, Thessaloniki, Greece, 17-21 April, 1989. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland. 493 pp.

Howe C.P., Claridge G.F., Hughes R. and Zuwendra, 1992. *Manual of guidelines for scoping EIA in tropical wetlands. 2nd Edition*, Asian Wetland Bureau-Indonesia, Bogor, Indonesia, 261 pp.

Hurst, H.E. & Phillips, P. 1938 The hydrology of the Lake Plateau and Bahr el Jebel. *The Nile Basin volume V*. Cairo. Government Press.

Ilstedt, U., Malmer, A. Verbeeten, E. & Murdiyarso, D. 2007 The effect of afforestation on water infiltration in the tropics: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Forest Ecology and Management* 251: 45–51. doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2007.06.014

Jacobs, S., Weeser, B., Njue, N., Guzha, A., Breuer, L., Butterbach-Bahl, K., Martius, C., & Rufino, M. 2016. *Impacts of land use on water and nutrient cycling in the South-West Mau, Kenya*. CIFOR. https://www2.cifor.org/wpsite/wpcontent/uploads/watertowers/ Juvik, J.o. & Ekern, P.C. 1978 A climatology of mountain fog on Mauna Loa, Hawai'i Island. University of Hawai'i Water Resources Center Technical Report No. 118.

Kagawa, A., Sack L., Duarte, K., James, S. 2009 Hawaiian native forest conserves water relative to timber plantation: Species and stand traits influence water use. *Ecological Applications*, 19, 6, 1429-1443.

Kabisch, N., N. Frantzeskaki, S. Pauleit, S. Naumann, M. Davis, M. Artmann, D. Haase, S. Knapp, H. Korn, J. Stadler, K. Zaunberger, and A. Bonn. 2016. Naturebased solutions to climate change mitigation and adaptation in urban areas: perspectives on indicators, knowledge gaps, barriers, and opportunities for action. *Ecology and Society* 21, 2, 39. http://dx.doi.org/10.5751/ ES-08373-210239

Kabisch, N., Korn, H., Stadler, J., & Bonn, A. 2017 Nature-based Solutions to Climate Change Adaptation in Urban Areas. Springer.

Kalantari, Z., Santos Ferreira, C.S., Keesstra, S. & Destouni, G. 2018 Naturebased solutions for flood-drought risk mitigation in vulnerable urbanizing parts of East-Africa *Current Opinion in Environmental Science & Health* 2018. 5, 73–78

Kivaisi, A.K. 2001 The potential for constructed wetlands for wastewater treatment and reuse in developing countries: a review *Ecological Engineering*, 16, 4, 545-560

Knowles, T., Bragg, C., Amend, T. & Vázquez Vela, A.C. (eds) 2018. *Entry Points for Mainstreaming Ecosystembased Adaptation. The Case of South Africa.* Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) GmbH, Bonn.

Lafortezza, R., Chen, J., van den Bosch, C.K., Randrup, T.B. 2017 Nature-based solutions for resilient landscapes and cities. *Environmental Research* 165, 431-441 doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2017.11.038

Lele, S. 2009 Watershed services of tropical forests: from hydrology to economic valuation to integrated analysis *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, 1, 2, 148-155 doi.org/10.1016/j.cosust.2009.10.007

Lane, P.N.J., Best, A.E., Hickel, K. & Zhang, L. 2005 The response of flow duration curves to afforestation. *Journal of Hydrology* 310, 1–4, 253-265

Lawrence, D., Vandecar, K. 2014 Effects of tropical deforestation on climate and agriculture, *Nature Climate Change*, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2430

Li, K.Y., Coe, M.T., Ramankutty, N. & DeJong, R. 2007 Modeling the hydrological impact of land-use change in West Africa. *Journal of Hydrology*, 337, 3–4, 258-268 doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2007.01.038

Lindley, S.J., Gill, S.E., Cavan, G., Yeshitela, K., Nebebe, A., Woldegerima, T., Kibassa, D., Shemdoe, R., Renner, F., Buchta, F., Abo-El-Wafa, H., Printz, A., Sall, F., Coly, A., Ndour, N.M., Feumba, R.A., Zogning, M.O.M., Tonyé, E., Ouédraogo, Y., Samari, S.B. & Sankara, B.T. 2015 Green Infrastructure for Climate Adaptation in African Cities. In: Pauleit S. et al. (eds) *Urban Vulnerability and Climate Change in Africa*. Future City, vol 4. Springer, Cham

Love, D., Van der Zaag, P., Uhlenbrook, S. and Owen, R. 2011. A water balance modelling approach to optimising the use of water resources in ephemeral sand rivers. *River Research and Applications*, Vol. 27, No. 7, pp. 908–925. doi.org/10.1002/rra.1408.

McCartney, M., Butterworth, J., Moriarty, P. & Owen, R. 1998a Comparison of the hydrology of two contrasting headwater catchments in Zimbabwe. In: *Hydrology, Water Resources and Ecology in Headwaters* Proceedings of the HeadWater'98 Conference, held at Meran/Merano, Italy, April 1998. IAHS Publ. no. 248.

McCartney, M.P., Neal, C. & Neal, M. 1998b Use of deuterium to understand runoff generation in a headwater catchment containing a dambo. *Hydrology & Earth system Sciences*, 2, 1, 65-76.

Mohamed, Y.A, van den Hurk, B.J.J.M., Savenije, H.H.G, Bastiaanssen, W.G.M. 2005 Impact of the Sudd wetland on the Nile hydroclimatology *Water Resources Research*, 41, 8

Mohamed, Y.A, Savenije, H.H.G, Bastiaanssen, W.G.M. & van den Hurk, B.J.J. 2006 New lessons on the Sudd hydrology learned from remote sensing and climate modelling *Hydrology & Earth system Sciences*, 10, 507–518

Moses, O. & Hambira, W.L. 2018 Effects of climate change on evapotranspiration over the Okavango Delta water resources. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth*, 105, 98–103

Munishi, PKT & Shear, TH 2005 Rainfall interception and partitioning in afromontane rainforest of the Eastern Arc Mountains, Tanzania: Implications for water conservation. *Journal of Tropical Forest Science*, 17, 3, 355-365

Muňoz-Villers, L.E. 2008. Efecto del cambio en el uso de suelo sobre la dinámica hidrológica y calidad de agua en el trópico húmedo del centro de Veracruz, México. Ph.D. thesis, Autonomous University of Mexico, Mexico City.

Nagabhatla, N., Springgay, E. & Dudley, N. 2018 Forests as nature-based solutions for ensuring urban water security. *Unasylva*, 69, 1. 43-52

National Trust 2015 From source to sea Natural Flood Management, the Holnicote Experience. National Trust, Minehead, UK. NERC 1975. *Flood Studies Report*. Flood routing studies. Vol III. Natural Environment Research Council, London, UK.

NCCRS 2010 *National climate change response strategy*. Government of the Republic of Zambia

Nesshöver, C., Assmuthe, T., Irvine, K.N., Rusch, G.M., Waylenf, K.A., Delbaere, B., Haase, D., Jones-Walters, L., Keune, H., Kovacs, E., Krauze, K., Külvik, M., Rey, F., van Dijk, J., Vistad, O.I., Wilkinson, M.E., Wittmer, H. 2017 The science, policy and practice of nature-based solutions: An interdisciplinary perspective *Science of the Total Environment* 579, 1215–1227

Nippgen, F., McGlynn, B.L. & Emanuel, R.E. 2015 The spatial and temporal evolution of contributing areas, *Water Resources Research*, 51, 4550–4573, doi:10.1002/2014WR016719.

Nosetto, M.D., Jobbagy, E.G. & Paruelo, J.M. 2005 Land-use change and water losses: the case of grassland afforestation across a soil textural gradient in central Argentina. *Global Change Biology* 11: 1101-1117.. 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2005.00975.x

Novitski, R. P. 1978. Hydrologic characteristics of Wisconsin's wetlands and their influence on floods, streamflow and sediment. In: *Wetland functions and values: the state of our understanding*, Amer. Water. Resour. Assoc., Minneapolis, MN, USA, 377-388

OECD, 1996. Guidelines for aid agencies for improved conservation and sustainable use of tropical and subtropical wetland. Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development Assistance Committee: Guidelines on Aid and Environment No.9, 69pp.

Olang, L.O. & Fürst, J. 2010 Effects of land cover change on flood peak discharges and runoff volumes: model estimates for the Nyando River Basin, Kenya *Hydrological* *Processes*, 25, 1, 80-89 doi.org/10.1002/hyp.7821

Özengin, N. & Elmaci, A. 2016 Removal of Pharmaceutical Products in a Constructed Wetland Iran Journal of Biotechnology. 14, 4, e1223

Palamuleni, L.G., Ndomba, P.M. & Annegarn, H.J. 2011 Evaluating land cover change and its impact on hydrological regime in Upper Shire river catchment, Malawi. *Reg Environ Change* 11, 845–855 doi.org/10.1007/s10113-011-0220-2

Pasquinin, L. & Cowling, R.M. 2015 Opportunities and challenges for mainstreaming ecosystem-based adaptation in local government: evidence from the Western Cape, South Africa Environment *Development and Sustainability*. 17, 5 doi:10.1007/s10668-014-9594-x

Peña-Arancibia, J.L., Bruijnzeel, L.A., Mulligan, M., & van Dijk, A.I.J.M. 2019 Forests as 'sponges' and 'pumps': Assessing the impact of deforestation on dry-season flows across the tropics *Journal of Hydrology* 574, 946–963

Petheram, C., Walker, G., Grayson, R., Thierfelder, T., Zhang, L. 2002 Towards a framework for predicting impacts of landuse on recharge: 1. A review of recharge studies in Australia. *Australian Journal of Soli Research*, 40, 397-417.

Raymond CM, Frantzeskaki N, Kabisch N, Berry P, Breil M, Nita MR, Geneletti D, Calfapietra C. 2017. A framework for assessing and implementing the cobenefits of nature-based solutions in urban areas. Environmental Science and Policy 77: 15–24.

RIN 1985 Evaluation of forest land, Kali Konto upper watershed, East Java II. Area, methods and organization. Research Institute for Nature Management (RIN), Leersum. 30 pp.

Roberts, D., Diederichs, N., Douwes, E., Govender, N., Mcinnes, A., Mclean, C., O'Donoghue, S. & Spires, M. 2012 Exploring ecosystem-based adaptation in Durban, South Africa: Learning-by-doing at the local government coal face. *International Institute for Environment and Development* 24, 167–195.

Robinson, M. & Rycroft, D. W. 1999. The impact of drainage on streamflow. *In:* Skaggs, W. & Van Schilfgaarde, J. (eds.) *Agricultural Drainage*. Madison, Wisconsin: American Society of Agronomy.

Robinson, M. 1998. 30 years of forest hydrology changes at Coalburn: water balance and extreme flows. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 2, 233-238.

Sáenz, L. & Mulligan, M. 2013 The role of Cloud Affected Forests (CAFs) on water inputs to dams *Ecosystem Services*, 5, e69–e77 Sáenz, L., Mulligan, M., Arjona, F. &

Gutierrez, T. 2014 The role of cloud forest restoration on energy security. *Ecosystem Services*, 9, 180-190.

Sear, D. A., Millington, C. E., Kitts, D. R. & Jeffries, R. 2010. Logjam controls on channel: floodplain interactions in wooded catchments and their role in the formation of multi-channel patterns. *Geomorphology*, 116, 305-319.

Seddon, N., Daniels, E., Davis, R., Chausson, A. Harris, R.,Hou-Jones, X.,Huq, S., Kapos, V., Mace, G., Rizvi, A.R., Reid, H., Roe, D., Turner, B. and Wicander, S. 2020 Global Recognition of the Importance of Nature-Based Solutions to Climate Change Impacts. *Global Sustainability* 3:e15.

Sheil, D. & Murdiyarso, D. 2009 How Forests Attract Rain: An Examination of a New Hypothesis *BioScience*, 59, 4, 341– 347, doi.org/10.1525/bio.2009.59.4.12 Singh, S. & Mishra, A. 2012 Spatiotemporal analysis of the effects of forest covers on water yield in the Western Ghats of peninsular India. Journal of Hydrology 446-447, 24-34. 10.1016/j.jhydrol.2012.04.021 Smith, A.C., P.A. Harrison, M. Pérez Soba, F. Archaux, M. Blicharska, B. N. Egoh, T. Erős, N. Fabrega Domenech, Á. I. György, R. Haines-Young, S. Li, E. Lommelen, L. Meiresonne, L. Miguel Ayala, L. Mononen, G. Simpson, E. Stange, F. Turkelboom, M. Uiterwijk, C. J. Veerkamp & V. Wyllie de Echeverria 2017 How natural capital delivers ecosystem services: a typology derived from a systematic review. *Ecosystem Services* 26, 111–126. Doi: 10.1016/j.ecoser.2017.06.006

Stadtmüller, T. 1987 Cloud Forests in the Humid Tropics. United Nations University, Tokyo and Centro Agronomico Tropical de Investigacion y Ensenanza, Turrialba.

Strandskov, E. 2014 The Synchronization of Storm Discharge Peaks and Their Associated Flood Hazards in a Small, Urbanized Watershed in New Jersey. Conference: 2014 Geological Society of America National Conference in Vancouver, British Columbia doi: 10.13140/2.1.2923.1686

Snyder, P.K., Foley, J.A., Hitchman, M.H. & Delire, C. 2004 Analyzing the effects of complete tropical forest removal on the regional climate using a detailed threedimensional energy budget: An application to Africa Journal of Geophysical Research 109, D21 doi.org/10.1029/2003JD004462

Steiner, A.L., Brooks, S.D., Deng, C., Thornton, D.C.O., Pendleton, M.W., Braynt V. 2015 Pollen as atmospheric cloud condensation nuclei. *Geophysical Research Letters*, May 2015

Stratford, C., Miller, J., House, A., Old, G., Acreman, M., Dueñas-Lopez, M. A., Nisbet, T., Newman, J., Burgess-Gamble, L., Chappell, N., Clarke, S., Leeson, L., Monbiot, G., Paterson, J., Robinson, M., Rogers, M. and Tickner, D. 2017. Do trees in UK-relevant river catchments influence fluvial flood peaks? Wallingford, UK, NERC/Centre for Ecology & Hydrology, 46pp. (CEH Project no. NEC06063) Stickler, C.M., Coe, M.T., Costa, M.H., Nepstad, D.C., McGrath, D.G., Dias, L.C.P., Rodrigues, H.O., Soares-Filho, B.S., 2013. Dependence of hydropower energy generation on forests in the Amazon Basin at local and regional scales. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 110, 9601–9606. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.12153 31110.

Taylor, C.M., Parker, D.J., Kalthoff, N., Gaertner, M.A., Philippon, N., Bastin, S., Harris, P.P., Boone, A., Guichard, F., Agusti-Panareda, A., Baldi, M., Cerlini, P., Descroix, L., Douville, H., Flamant, C., Grandpeix, J.-Y., Polcher, J. 2011 New perspectives on land–atmosphere feedbacks from the African Monsoon Multidisciplinary Analysis *Atmos. Sci. Let.* 12: 38–44

Teuling, A.J., Taylor, C.M., Meirink, J.F., Melsen, L.A., Miralles, D.G., van Heerwaarden, C.C., Vautard, R., Stegehuis, A.I., Nabuurs, G-J., Guerau de Arellano, J.V. 2017 Observational evidence for cloud cover enhancement over western European forests. *Nature*, DOI 10.1038/ncomms14065

Tickner, D., Parker, H., Moncriff, C.R., Oates, N.E.M., Ludi, E. & Acreman, M. 2017 Managing Rivers for Multiple Benefits–A Coherent Approach to Research, Policy and Planning. *Frontiers in Environmental Science* https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.20 17.00004

TreeAid 2019 How trees are solving desertification and drought in Africa's drylands https://www.treeaid.org.uk/2019/howtrees-are-solving-desertification-and-

drought-in-africas-drylands/

Voldoire, A., Royer, J.F. 2004 Tropical deforestation and climate variability. *Climate Dynamics* 22, 857– 874 doi.org/10.1007/s00382-004-0423-z

Ward, C. D., C. M. Parker, and C. M. Shackleton. 2010. The use and appreciation of botanical gardens as urban

green spaces in South Africa. *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening* **9**:49-55.

Willemse, L. 2013. A Flowmap– geographic information systems approach to determine community neighbourhood park proximity in Cape Town. *South African Geographical Journal* **95**:149-164.

Wong, T. & Brown, R. 2008. Transitioning to water sensitive cities: Ensuring resilience through a new hydro-social contract. In: *Proceedings of the11*th *International Conference on Urban Drainage*, 31 August-5 September 2008, Edinburgh International Conference Centre, Scotland. Edinburgh: IAHR/IWA.

WWAP (United Nations World Water Assessment Programme)/UN-Water. 2018. The United Nations World Water Development Report 2018: Nature-Based Solutions for Water. Paris, UNESCO.

Zimmermann, A., Francke, T. and Elsenbeer, H. 2012. Forests and erosion: Insights from a study of suspendedsediment dynamics in an overland flowprone rainforest catchment. *Journal of Hydrology* 428, 170-181.

7.2 Evidence review references

Nature-based solutions

Critchley, A. & Di Prima, F. 2012. *Water Harvesting Technologies Revisited*. Deliverable 2.1 of the FP7 Project Water Harvesting Technologies: Potentials for Innovations, Improvements and Upscaling in Sub-Saharan Africa.

Fisher-Jeffes, L., Carden, K., Armitage, N.P. & Winter, K. 2017. Stormwater harvesting: Improving water security in South Africa's urban areas. South African *Journal of Science*, 113, 1/2.

Fitchett, A. 2017. SuDS for managing surface water in Diepsloot informal settlement, Johannesburg, South Africa. *Water Science and Technology*, 43, 2. Gathagu, J.N., Sang, J.K. & Maina, C. W. 2018. Modelling the impacts of structural conservation measures on sediment and water yield in Thika-Chania catchment, Kenya. International Soil and *Water Conservation Research*, 6, 2, 165–174.

Murray, R., Louw, D., van der Merwe, B. & Peters, I. 2018. Windhoek, Namibia: From conceptualising to operating and expanding a MAR scheme in a fractured quartzite aquifer for the city's water security. *Sustainable Water Resources Man*agement, 4, 217–223.

Sy, M., Baguian, H. & Gahi, N. 2014. Multiple Use of Green Spaces in Bobo-Dioulasso, Burkina Faso. *Urban Agriculture*, 27, 33–36.

Welderufael, W.A., Woyessa, Y.E. & Edossa, D. C. 2013. Impact of rainwater harvesting on water resources of the Modder river basin, central region of South Africa. *Agricultural Water Management*, 116, 218–227.

Natural wetlands

Abiye, T. 2015. The Role of Wetlands Associated to Urban Micro-Dams in Pollution Attenuation, Johannesburg, South Africa *Wetlands*, 35, 6, 1127–1136 https://doi.org/10.1007/s13157-015-0700-0

Balek, J. & Perry, J. E. 1973. Hydrology of seasonally inundated African headwater swamps. *Journal of Hydrology*, 19, 227– 249.

Bullock, A. 1992. The role of dambos in determining river flow regimes in Zimbabwe. *Journal of Hydrology*, 134, 349–372.

Dalahmeh, S., Björnberg, E., Elenström, A.-K., Niwagaba, C.B. & Komakech, A. J. 2020. Pharmaceutical pollution of water resources in Nakivubo wetlands and Lake Victoria, Kampala, Uganda. *Science of the Total Environment*, 710.

Dessie, M., Verhoest, N.E.C., Admasu, T., Pauwels, V.R.N., Poesen, J. Adgo, E., Deckers, J. & Nyssen, J. 2019. Effects of the floodplain on river discharge into Lake Tana (Ethiopia). *Journal of Hydrology*, 519, 699–210.

Drayton, R.S., Kidd, C.H.R., Mandeviile, A.N. & Miller, J. B. 1980. *A regional analysis of river floods and low flows in Malawi*. Institute of Hydrology Report 72. Wallingford, UK.

Eid, E.M., Shaltout, K.H., Al-Sodany, Y.M., Haroun, S.A., Galal, T.M., Ayed, H., Khedher, K.M. & Jensen, K. 2020. Seasonal potential of Phragmites australis in nutrient removal to eliminate the eutrophication in Lake Burullus, Egypt. *Journal of Freshwater Ecology*. doi: 10.1080/02705060.2020.1748129

Eilers, A., Miller, J., Watson, A. & Sigidi, N. 2017. Groundwater recharge quantification from historical rainfall records and salinity profiling in the RAMSAR listed Verlorenvlei catchment, South Africa. *Procedia Earth and Planetary Science*, 17, 586–589.

Enku, T.M., Melesse, A.M., Ayana, E.K., Tilahun, S. A., & Abate, M. & Steenhuis, T. S. 2017. Groundwater Evaporation and Recharge for a Floodplain in a Sub-humid Monsoon Climate in Ethiopia. *Land Degradation and Development*, 28, 6, 1831–1841. https://doi.org/10.1002/ldr.2650

Faulkner, R.D & Lambert, R. A. 1991. The effect of irrigation on dambo hydrology; a case study. *Journal of Hydrology*, 123, 147–161.

Faye, S.C., Diongue, M.L., Pouye, A., Gaye, C.B., Travi, Y., Wohnlich, S., Faye, S. & Taylor, R. G. 2019. Tracing natural groundwater recharge to the Thiaroye aquifer of Dakar, Senegal. *Hydrogeology Journal*, 27, 1067–1080. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10040-018-01923-8

Goes, B. 1999. Estimate of shallow groundwater recharge in the Hadejia– Nguru Wetlands, semi-arid northeastern Nigeria. *Hydrogeology Journal*, 7, 294– 304. https://doi.org/10.1007/s100400050203

Grillot, J.C. & Dussarrat, B. 1992. Hydraulique des unitrs d'interfluves et de bas-fond tourbeux: un exemple en zone de socle altrr6 (Madagascar). *Journal of Hydrology* 135, 321–340.

Grundling, P., Clulow, A.D., Price, J.S. & Everson, C. S. 2015. Quantifying the water balance of Mfabeni Mire (iSimangaliso Wetland Park, South Africa) to understand its importance, functioning and vulnerability. *Mires and Peat*, 16, 12, 1–18.

Hill, J.L. & Kidd, C. H. R. 1980. *Rainfallrunoff relationships for 47 Malawi catchments*. Report TP7 Water Resources Branch, Malawi.

Hollis, G. E. 1996. Hydrological inputs to management policy for the Senegal river and its floodplain. In Acreman, M.C. & Hollis, G.E. (eds.), *Water management and wetlands in Sub-Saharan Africa* IUCN. 155–184.

Jacks, G. & Traoré, M. S. 2014. Mechanisms and Rates of Groundwater Recharge at Timbuktu, Republic of Mali. *Journal of Hydraulic Engineering*, 19, 2.

John, D.M., Lévêque, C. & Newton, L. E. 1993. Western Africa. In D. Whigham, D. Dykjova, and S. Hejny (eds) *Wetlands of the world* 47–78. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands.

Kansiime, F. & van Bruggen, J. J. A. 2001. Distribution and retention of faecal coliforms in Nakivubo wetland in Kampala, Uganda. *Water Science and Technology*, 44, 11–12, 199–206.

Kanyiginya, V., Kansiime, F., Kimwaga, R & Mashauri, D. A. 2010. Assessment of nutrient retention by Natete wetland Kampala, Uganda. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth*, 35, 657–664.

Kashaigili, J.J., McCartney, M.P., Mahoo, H.F., Lankford, B.A., Mbilinyi, B.P., Yawson, D.K. & Tumbo, S. D. 2006. Use of a Hydrological Model for Environmental Management of the Usangu Wetlands, Tanzania. IWMI Research Report 104. 48 pp.

Kashaigili, J. J. 2013. Implications of land use and land cover changes on hydrological regimes of the Malagarasi River, Tanzania. *Journal of Agricultural Science and Applications*, 2, 1, 45–50.

Kayendeke, E.J., Kansiime, F., French, H.K & Bamutaze, Y. 2018. Spatial and temporal variation of papyrus root mat thickness and water storage in a tropical wetland system. *Science of The Total Environment*, 642, 925–936. doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.06.087

Lacombe, G. & McCartney, M. 2016. Evaluating the flow regulating effects of ecosystems in the Mekong and Volta river basins. IWMI Research Report, 166, 1–34. https://doi.org/10.5337/2016.202

Love, D., Uhlenbrook, S., Corzo-Perez, G., Twomlow, S. & van der Zaag, P. 2010. Rainfall–interception–evaporation–runoff relationships in a semi-arid catchment, northern Limpopo basin, Zimbabwe. *Hydrological Sciences Journal*, 55, 5, 687–703.

Maréchal, J.C., Braun, J. J., Riotte, J., Bedimo, J. P. &, & Boeglin, J. L. 2011. Hydrological processes of a rainforest headwater swamp from natural chemical tracing in Nsimi watershed, Cameroon. *Hydrological Processes*, 25, 14, 2246– 2260. https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.7989

Mayo, A.W., Muraza, M. & Norbert, J. 2018. Modelling nitrogen transformation and removal in mara river basin wetlands upstream of lake Victoria. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth*, 105, 136–146.

Mbabazi, J., Kwetegyeka, J. & Ntale, M. 2010. Ineffectiveness of Nakivubo wetland in filtering out heavy metals from untreated Kampala urban effluent prior to discharge into Lake Victoria, Uganda. *African Journal of Agriculture*, 5, 24, 3431–3439. McCartney, M., Cai, X. & Smakhtin, V. 2013. Evaluating the Flow Regulating Functions of Natural Ecosystems in the Zambezi River Basin. IWMI Research Report 148. doi:10.5337/2013.206

McCartney, M., Morardet, S., Rebelo, L.M., Finlayson, C.M., & Masiyandima, M. 2011. A study of wetland hydrology and ecosystem service provision: GaMampa wetland, South Africa. *Hydrological Sciences Journal*, 56, 8, 1452–1466.

McCartney, M.P. & Neal, C. 1999. Water flow pathways and the water balance within a headwater catchment containing a dambo; inferences dranw from hydrochemical investigations. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 3, 4, 581–591.

McCartney, M. P. 2000. The Water Budget of a Headwater Catchment Containing a Dambo. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth*, 25, 7–8, 611–616.

Meigh, J. R. 1995. The impact of small farm reservoirs on urban water supplies in Botswana. *Natural Resources Forum*, 19, 1, 71–83.

Mekiso, F.A., Snyman, J. & Ochieng, G. M. 2014. Physical hydrology of the middle Mohlapitsi wetland, Capricorn District, South Africa. *Global Journal of Engineering Science and Researches*, 1, 10, 62–77. ISSN 2348 – 8034

Melly, B.L., Schael, D. M. &, & Gama, P. T. 2017. Perched wetlands: An explanation to wetland formation in semi-arid areas. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 141, 34– 39.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaridenv.2017.0 2.004

Millington, A.C., Helmisch, F. & Rhebergen, G. J. 1985. Inland valley swamps and bolis in Sierra Leone: hydrological and pedological considerations for agricultural development. *Zeitschrift Für Geomorphologie*, 52, 201-222.

Mucheye, T., Yitaferu, B. & Zenebe, A. 2018. Significance of wetlands for

sediment and nutrient reduction in Lake Tana Sub-Basin, Upper Blue Nile Basin, Ethiopia. *Sustainable Water Resources Management*, 4, 3, 567–572. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40899-017-0140-5

Mugisha, P., Kansiime, F., Mucunguzi, P. & Kateyo, E. 2007. Wetland vegetation and nutrient retention in Nakivubo and Kirinya wetlands in the Lake Victoria basin of Uganda. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth*, 32, 1359–1365.

Nonterah, C., Xu, Y. & Osae, S. 2019. Groundwater occurrence in the Sakumo wetland catchment, Ghana: model– setting–scenario approach. *Hydrogeology Journal*, 27, 983–996.

Nyarkoa, B.K., Eghanb, J.M., Essumangc, D.K., Amankwahd, H.K. & Osaee, S. 2013. Riverine wetland-rivers flow synergy: an isotopic study of the White Volta basin, Ghana. In *Isotopic Age and Composition of Streamflow as Indicators of Groundwater Sustainability* 83–110. International Atomic Energy Agency. Water Resources Programme.

Riddell, E.S., Everson, C., Clulow, A. & Mengistu, M. 2013. The hydrological characterisation and water budget of a South African rehabilitated headwater wetland system. *Water South Africa*, 39, 1, 57–66.

http://dx.doi.org/10.4314/wsa.v39i1.8

Ryken, N., Vanmaercke, M., Wanyama, J., Isabirye, M., Vanonckelen, S., Deckers, J., & Poesen, J. 2015. Impact of papyrus wetland encroachment on spatial and temporal variabilities of stream flow and sediment export from wet tropical catchments. *Science of the Total Environment*, 511, 756–766. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.1 2.048

SCET. 1962. *Ressources en eaux souterraaines de al region d'El Haouaria, Tunisie. Estimation du bilan.* SCET, Tunis. www.scet-tunisie.com Sellars, C. D. 1981. A floodplain storage model used to determine evaporation losses in the upper Yobe River, Northern Nigeria. *Journal of Hydrology*, 52, 257– 2268.

Senay, G.B., Velpuri, N.M., Bohms, S., Demissie, Y. & Gebremichael, M. 2014. Understanding the hydrologic sources and sinks in the Nile Basin using multisource climate and remote sensing data sets. *Water Resources Research*, 50, 11, 8625– 8650.

https://doi.org/10.1002/2013WR015231

Sharma, T. C. 1988. An evaluation of evapotranspiration in tropical central Africa. *Hydrological Sciences Journal*, 33, 1, 31–40. doi: 10.1080/02626668809491220

Smakhtin, V.U. & Batchelor, A. L. 2005. Evaluating wetland flow regulating functions using discharge time-series. *Hydrological Processes*, 19, 1293–1305.

Smith-Carington, A. R. 1983. *Hydrological bulletin for the Bua catchment*. Report no 5. Department of Land Valuation and Water, Lilongwe, Malawi

Sracek, O., Kříbek, B., Mihaljevič, M., Ettler, V., & Vaněk, A., Penížek, V., Filip, J., Veselovský, F. & Nyambe, I. 2018. The impact of wetland on neutral mine drainage from mining wastes at Luanshya in the Zambian Copperbelt in the framework of climate change. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 25, 29, 28961–28972. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-018-2929-7

Sutcliffe, J. & Parks, Y. 1989. Comparative water balances of selected African wetlands. *Hydrological Processes*, 34, 1, 49–62. https://doi.org/10.1080/0262666890949 1308

Taylor, R.G. & Howard, K. W. F. 1999. The influence of tectonic setting on the hydrological characteristics of deeply weathered terrains: evidence from Uganda. *Hydrological Sciences Journal*, 218, 1–2, 44–71.

von der Heyden, C.J. & New, M. G. 2003. The role of a dambo in the hydrology of a catchment and the river network downstream. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 7, 3, 339–357.

Winde, F. 2011. Peatlands as Filters for Polluted Mine Water—A Case Study from a Uranium-Contaminated Karst System in South Africa—Part IV: Quantifying the Chemical Filter Component. *Water*, 3, 1. doi: 10.3390/w3010391

Wolskia, P. & Savenije, H. H. G. 2006. Dynamics of floodplain-island groundwater flow in the Okavango Delta, Botswana. *Journal of Hydrology*, 320, 283–301.

Constructed wetlands

Abdel-Shafy, H. I., El-Khateeb, M. A., & Shehata, M. 2017. Blackwater treatment via combination of sedimentation tank and hybrid wetlands for unrestricted reuse in Egypt. *Desalination and Water Treatment*, 71, 145–151. https://doi.org/10.5004/dwt.2017.20538

Abiye, T., Mkansi, S., Masindi, K. & Leshomo, J. 2018. Effectiveness of wetlands in retaining metals from mine water, South Africa. *Water and Environment Journal*, *32*, 2, 259–266. https://doi.org/10.1111/wej.12323

Abou-Elela, S.I., Golinelli, G. & El-Tabl, A. S. 2014. Treatment of municipal wastewater using horizontal flow constructed wetlands in Egypt. *Water Science and Technology*, 69, 1, 38–47.

Ali, H.A.H.Y, Rashed, A.A. & Kheder, F. G. 2019. Seasonal Study of Cu, Zn and Pb Accumulation and Distribution in Sediments and Phragmites Australis planted in A Constructed Wetland "Lake Manzala Engineered Wetland Project", (LMEWP), Egypt. *International Journal of Pharmaceutical Research & Allied Sciences*, 8, 1, 64–76. Amare, E., Kebede, F. & Mulat, W. 2018. Wastewater treatment by Lemna minor and Azolla filiculoides in tropical semiarid regions of Ethiopia. *Ecological Engineering*, 120, 464–473.

Angassa, K., Leta, S., Mulat, W., Kloos, H., & Meers, E. 2019. Evaluation of Pilot-Scale Constructed Wetlands with Phragmites karka for Phytoremediation of Municipal Wastewater and Biomass Production in Ethiopia. *Environmental Processes*, 6, 1, 65–84. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40710-019-00358-x

Anning, A. K., Korsah, P. E., & Addo-Fordjour, P. 2013. Phytoremediation of Wastewater with Limnocharis Flava, Thalia Geniculata and Typha Latifolia in Constructed Wetlands. *International Journal of Phytoremediation*, 15, 5, 452– 464.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15226514.2012.7 16098

Assefa, R., Bai, R., Leta, S. & Kloos, H. 2019. Nitrogen removal in integrated anaerobic–aerobic sequencing batch reactors and constructed wetland system: a field experimental study. Applied Water Science, 9, 136.

Bateganya, N. L., Kazibwe, A., Langergraber, G., Okot-Okumu, J., & Hein, T. 2016. Performance of subsurface flow constructed wetland mesocosms in enhancing nutrient removal from municipal wastewater in warm tropical environments. *Environmental Technology*, 37, 8, 960–974. https://doi.org/10.1080/09593330.2015.1 095245

Bateganya, N. L., Nakalanzi, D., Babu, M., & Hein, T. 2015. Buffering municipal wastewater pollution using urban wetlands in sub-Saharan Africa: A case of Masaka municipality, Uganda. *Environmental Technology*, 36, 17, 2149– 2160.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09593330.2015.1 023363 Dires, S., Birhanu, T., Ambelu, A. & Sahilu, G. 2018. Antibiotic resistant bacteria removal of subsurface flow constructed wetlands from hospital wastewater. *Journal of Environmental Chemical Engineering*, 6, 4265–4272.

El-Khateeb, M.A., Al-Herrawy, A.Z., Kamel, M.M. & El-Gohary, F. A. 2009. Use of wetlands as post-treatment of anaerobically treated effluent. *Desalination*, 245, 50–59.

El-Sheikh, M.A., Saleh, H.I., El-Quosy, D.E. & Mahmoud, A. A. 2010. Improving water quality in polluated drains with free water surface constructed wetlands. *Ecological Engineering*, 36, 1478–1484.

Elfanssi, S., Ouazzani, N., Latrach, L., Hejjaj, A., & Mandi, L. 2018. Phytoremediation of domestic wastewater using a hybrid constructed wetland in mountainous rural area. *International Journal of Phytoremediation*, 20, 1, 75– 87.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15226514.2017.1 337067

Ghrabi, A., Bousselmi, L., Masi, F. & Regelsberger, M. 2011. Constructed wetland as a low cost and sustainable solution for wastewater treatment adapted to rural settlements: the Chorfech wastewater treatment pilot plant. *Water Science and Technology*, 63, 12, 3006– 3012.

Haddis, A., Van der Bruggen, B. & Smets, I. 2020. Constructed wetlands as nature based solutions in removing organic pollutants from wastewater under irregular flow conditions in a tropical climate. *Ecohydrology & Hydrobiology*, 20, 38–47.

Horner, J. E., Castle, J. W., Rodgers, J. H., Gulde, C. M., & Myers, J. E. 2012. Design and performance of pilot-scale constructed wetland treatment systems for treating oilfield produced water from Sub-Saharan Africa. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*, 223, 5, 1945–1957. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-011-0996-1 Kabenge, I., Ouma, G., Aboagye, D., & Banadda, N. 2018. Performance of a constructed wetland as an upstream intervention for stormwater runoff quality management. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 25, 36, 36765–36774. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-018-3580-z

Kaseva, M. E. 2004. Performance of a subsurface flow constructed wetland in polishing pre-treated wastewater—a tropical case study. *Water Research*, 38, 681–687.

Kengne, E.S., Kengne, I.M., Akoa, W.A., Viet, H.N. & Strande, L. 2014. Performance of vertical flow constructed wetlands for faecal sludge drying bed leachate: Effect of hydraulic loading. *Ecological Engineering*, 71, 384–393.

Kihila, J., Ttei, K.M. & Njau, K. N. 2014. Wastewater treatment for reuse in urban agriculture; the case of Moshi Municipality, Tanzania. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth*, 72–75, 104–110.

Kyambadde, J., Kansiime, F. & Dalhammar, G. 2005. Nitrogen and Phosphorus Removal In Substrate-Free Pilot Constructed Wetlands With Horizontal Surface Flow In Uganda. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*, 165, 37–59.

Mashauri, D. A., Mulungu, D. M. M. & Abdulhussein, B. S. (2000. Constructed wetland at the University of Dar Es Salaam. *Water Research*, 34, 4, 1135– 1144.

Mtavangu, S., Rugaika, A.M., Hilonga, A. & Njau, K. N. 2017. Performance of constructed wetland integrated with sand filters for treating high turbid water for drinking. *Water Practice & Technology*, 12, 1.

Mustapha, H. I., van Bruggen, J. J. A., & Lens, P. N. L. 2018. Fate of heavy metals in vertical subsurface flow constructed wetlands treating secondary treated petroleum refinery wastewater in Kaduna, Nigeria. International Journal of Phytoremediation, 20, 1, 44–53. https://doi.org/10.1080/15226514.2017.1 337062

Nzengy'A, D. M., & Wishitemi, B. E. L. 2001. The performance of constructed wetlands for, wastewater treatment: A case study of Splash wetland in Nairobi Kenya. *Hydrological Processes*, 15, 17, 3239–3247. https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.185

Okurut, T.O., Rijs, G.B.J. & van Bruggen, J. J. A. 1999 Design and performance of experimental constructed wetlands in Uganda planted with *Cyperus papyrus* and *Phagmites mauritianus*. *Water Science and Technology*, 40, 3, 265–271.

Schulz, R., & Peall, S. K. C. 2001. Effectiveness of a constructed wetland for retention of nonpoint-source pesticide pollution in the Lourens River catchment, South Africa. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 35, 2, 422–426. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0001198

Sekiranda, SBK. & Kiwanuka, S. 1998. A study of nutrient removal efficiency of Phragmites mauritianus in experimental reactors in Uganda. *Hydrobiologia*, 364, 83–91.

Sellami, H., Benabdallah, S. & Charef, A. 2012. Performance of a vertical flow constructed wetland treating domestic wastewater for a small community in rural Tunisia. *Desalination and Water Treatment*, 12, 1–3, 262–269.

Stott, R., May, E. & Mara, D. D. 2003. Parasite removal by natural wastewater treatment systems: performance of waste stabilisation ponds and constructed wetlands. *Water Science and Technology*, 48, 2, 97–104.

Taouraout, A., Chahlaoui, A., Belghyti, D., Najy, M. & Sammoudi, R. 2019. Vertical Flow Constructed Wetland a green technology to improve sanitation in future smart cities of Morocco. *Proceedings of the Conference on Smart City Applications, Casablanca*. Timotewos, M.T., Kassa, K. & Reddythota, D. 2017. Selection of mesocosm to remove nutrients with constructed wetlands. *Journal of Ecological Engineering*, 18, 4, 42–51.

Udom, I.J., Mbajiorgu, C.C. & Oboho, E. O. 2018. Development and evaluation of a constructed pilot-scale horizontal subsurface flow wetland treating piggery wastewater. *Ain Shams Engineering Journal*, 9, 3179–3185.

Uwimana, A., van Dam, A. & Irvine, K. 2018. Effects of conversion of wetlands to rice and fish farming on water quality in valley bottoms of the Migina catchment, southern Rwanda. *Ecological Engineering*, 125, 76–86.

Worku, A., Tefera, N., Kloos, H. & Benor, S. 2018. Bioremediation of brewery wastewater using hydroponics planted with vetiver grass in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. *Bioresources and Bioprocessing*, 5, 39.

Forests

Akale, A.T., Dagnew, D.C., Moges, M.A., Tilahun, S.A. & Steenhuis, T. S. 2019. The Effect of Landscape Interventions on Groundwater Flow and Surface Runoff in a Watershed in the Upper Reaches of the Blue Nile. *Water*, 11, 2188.

Asfaha, T. G., Frankl, A., Haile, M., & Zenebe, A. & Nyssen, J. 2015. Sediment flux dynamics as fingerprints of catchment rehabilitation: The case of western Rift Valley escarpment of northern Ethiopia. *Geomorphology*, 250, 220–235. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geomorph.2015. 09.004

Barasa, B.N. & Perera, E. D. P. 2018. Analysis of land use change impacts on flash flood occurrences in the Sosiani River basin Kenya. *International Journal of River Basin Management*, 16, 2, 179– 188.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15715124.2017.14 11922 Bargués-Tobella, A., Hasselquist, N.J., Bazié, H. R., & Bayala, J., Laudon, H. & Ilstedt, U. 2020. Trees in African drylands can promote deep soil and groundwater recharge in a future climate with more intense rainfall. *Land Degradation and Development*, 31, 1, 81–95. https://doi.org/10.1002/ldr.3430

Bewket, W. & Sterk, G. 2005. Dynamics in land cover and its effect on stream flow in the Chemoga watershed, Blue Nile basin, Ethiopia. *Hydrological Processes*, 19, 2, 445–458. https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.5542

Calder, I.R., Hall, R. L., Bastable, H. G., Gunston, H. M., & Shela, O., Chirwab, A. & Kafundub, R. 1995. The impact of land use change on water resources in sub-Saharan Africa: a modelling study of Lake Malawi. *Journal of Hydrology*, 170, 123-135

Chiwa, R. 2012. Effects of land use and land cover changes in the hydrology of Weruweru-Kiladeda sub-catchment in Pangani River basin, Tanzania. MSc Department of Geography, Kenyatta University

Coynel, A., Seyler, P., Etcheber, H., Meybeck, M. & Orange, D. 2005. Spatial and seasonal dynamics of total suspended sediment and organic carbon species in the Congo River. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 19, 4. https://doi.org/10.1029/2004GB002335

Dagg, M. & Blackie, J. R. 1965. Studies of the effects of changes in land use on the hydrological cycle in east africa by means of experimental catchment areas. *International Association of Scientific Hydrology. Bulletin*, 10, 4, 63–75. https://doi.org/10.1080/02626666650949 3424

Descheemaeker, K., Nyssen, J., Poesen, J., Raes, D., Haile, M., Muys, B. & Deckers, S. 2006. Runoff on slopes with restoring vegetation: A case study from the Tigray highlands, Ethiopia. *Journal of Hydrology*, 331, 1–2, 219–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2006.05 .015 Dye, P. J. & Poulter, A. G. 1995. A field demonstration of the effect on streamflow of clearing invasive pine and wattle trees from a riparian zone. *South African Forestry Journal*, 173, 1, 27–30. https://doi.org/10.1080/00382167.1995.9 629687

El-Hassanin, A.S., Labib, T.M. & Gaber, E. I. 1993. Effect of vegetation cover and land slope on runoff and soil losses from the watersheds of Burundi. *Ecosystems and Environment*, 43, 301-308

Enku, T., Melesse, A. M., Ayana, E.K., Tilahun, S. A., & Abate, M. & Steenhuis, T. S. 2020. Groundwater use of a small Eucalyptus patch during the dry monsoon phase. *Biologia*, 75, 6, 853–864. https://doi.org/10.2478/s11756-020-00430-0

Gebrehiwot, S.G., Gärdenäs, A.I., Bewket, W., Seibert, J., Ilstedt, U. & Bishop, K. 2014. The long-term hydrology of East Africa's water tower: Statistical change detection in the watersheds of the Abbay Basin. *Regional Environmental Change*, 14, 1, 321–331.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-013-0491x

Gebrehiwot, S.G., Taye, A. &, & Bishop, K. 2010. Forest cover and stream flow in a headwater of the blue nile: Complementing observational data analysis with community perception. *Ambio*, 39, 4, 284–294. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-010-0047-y

Gebresamuel, G., Bal, R.S. & Øystein, D. 2010. Land-use changes and their impacts on soil degradation and surface runoff of two catchments of Northern Ethiopia. *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica Section B: Soil and Plant Science*, 60, 3, 211–226. https://doi.org/10.1080/0906471090282 1741

Giertz, S., Junge, B. & Diekkrüger, B. 2005. Assessing the effects of land use change on soil physical properties and hydrological processes in the sub-humid tropical environment of West Africa. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth,* 30, 8–10, 485–496. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pce.2005.07.00 3

Girmay, G., Singh, B. R., Nyssen, J. & Borrosen, T. 2009. Runoff and sedimentassociated nutrient losses under different land uses in Tigray, Northern Ethiopia. *Journal of Hydrology*, 376, 1–2, 70–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2009.07 .066

Gumindoga, W., Makurira, H. & Garedondo, B. 2018. Impacts of landcover changes on streamflows in the Middle Zambezi Catchment within Zimbabwe. *Proceedings of the International Association of Hydrological Sciences*, 378, 43–50. https://doi.org/10.5194/piahs-378-43-2018

Gush, M. B., Scott, D. F., Jewitt, G. P.W., Schulze, R. E., Hallowes, L. A. & Görgens, A. H. M. 2002. A new approach to modelling streamflow reductions resulting from commercial afforestation in south Africa. *Southern African Forestry Journal*, 196, 1, 27–36. https://doi.org/10.1080/20702620.2002. 10434615

Hecky, R.E., Bootsma, H.A. & Kingdon, M. L. 2003. Impact of Land Use on Sediment and Nutrient Yields to Lake Malawi/Nyasa (Africa). *Journal of Great Lakes Research*, 29, 139–158.

Hector, B., Cohard, J.-M., Séguis, L., Galle, S. & Peugeot, C. 2018. Hydrological functioning of western African inland valleys explored with a critical zone model. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 22, 5867–5888,.

Houston, J. F. T. 1982. Rainfall and recharge to a dolomite aquifer in a semiarid climate at Kabwe, Zambia. *Journal of Hydrology*, 59, 173-187

Hurni, H., Tato, K. & Zeleke, G. 2016. The Implications of Changes in Population, Land Use, and Land Management for Surface Runoff in the Upper Nile Basin Area of Ethiopia Water and Land Resource Centre, Addis Ababa View project Water supply improvement project View project. *Mountain Research and Development*, 25/2, 147–154. https://doi.org/10.2307/3674675

Jacobs, S., Weeser, B., Njue, N., Guzha, A., Breuer, L., Butterbach-Bahl, K., Martius, C. & Rufino, M. 2016. *Impacts of land use on water and nutrient cycling in the South-West Mau, Kenya*. Report of Centre for International Forestry Research (CIFOR), Justus-Liebig Universitat Giessen, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology

Kashaigili, J. J. 2008. Impacts of land-use and land-cover changes on flow regimes of the Usangu wetland and the Great Ruaha River, Tanzania. Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, 33, 8–13, 640–647. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pce.2008.06.01 4

Kassa, H., Frankl, A., Dondeyne, S., Poesen, J. & Nyssen, J. 2019. Sediment yield at southwest Ethiopia's forest frontier. Land Degradation and Development, 30, 6, 695–705. https://doi.org/10.1002/ldr.3260

Kidane, M., Tolessa, T., Bezie, A., Kessete, N. & Endrias, M. 2019. Evaluating the impacts of climate and land use/land cover (LU/LC) dynamics on the Hydrological Responses of the Upper Blue Nile in the Central Highlands of Ethiopia. *Spatial Information Research*, 27, 2, 151– 167. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41324-018-0222-y

Kithiia, S. M. 1997. Land use changes and their effects on sediment transport and soil erosion within the Athi drainage basin, Kenya. In *Human Impact on Erosion and Sedimentation* Issue 245. IAHS Publ.

Lacombe, G. & McCartney, M. 2016. Evaluating the flow regulating effects of ecosystems in the Mekong and Volta river basins. IWMI Research Report, 166, 1–34. https://doi.org/10.5337/2016.202 Lal, R. 1997. Deforestation effects on soil degradation and rehabilitation in western Nigeria. IV Hydrology and Water quality. *Land Degradation and Development*, 8, 95–126.

Li, C.J., Chai, Y.Q., Yang, L-S. Li., H.-R. 2016. Spatio-temporal distribution of flood disasters and analysis of influencing factors in Africa. *Natural Hazards*, 82, 721–731.

Lorup, J.K. & Hansen, E. 1997. Effect of land use on the streamflow in the southwestern highlands of Tanzania. *International Association of Hydrological Sciences* Publ 240, 240, 227–236. Lundgren, L. 1980. Comparison of surface runoff and soil loss from runoff plots in forest and small-scale agriculture in the Usambara. Geografiska Annaler, Series A, 62, 3–4, 113–148. https://doi.org/10.1080/04353676.1980.1 1880005

Lwimbo, Z. D., Komakech, H. C., & & Muzuka, A. N. N. 2019. Estimating groundwater recharge on the southern slope of Mount Kilimanjaro, Tanzania. *Environmental Earth Sciences*, 78, 24. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12665-019-8690-5

Mbano, D., Chinseu, J., Ngongondo, C. & Sambo, E., Mul, M. 2009. Impacts of rainfall and forest cover change on runoff in small catchments: a case study of Mulunguzi and Namadzi catchment areas in Southern Malawi. *Malawi Journal of Science & Technology*, 9, 1, 11–17.

McCartney, M., Cai, X. & Smakhtin, V. 2013. Evaluating the Flow Regulating Functions of Natural Ecosystems in the Zambezi River Basin. IWMI Research Report 148. doi:10.5337/2013.206

Mekonnen, D.F., Duan, Z., Rientjes, T. & Disse, M. 2018. Analysis of combined and isolated effects of land-use and land-cover changes and climate change on the upper Blue Nile River basin's streamflow. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 22, 6187–6207. https://doi.org/10.5194/hess-22-6187-2018

Mumeka, A. 1986. Effect of deforestation and subsistence agriculture on runoff of the Kafue River headwaters, Zambia. Hydrological Sciences Journal, 31, 4, 543– 554.

https://doi.org/10.1080/0262666860949 1073

Munishi, P.K.T., Hermegast, A.M. & Mbilinyi, B. P. 2009. The impacts of changes in vegetation cover on dry season flow in the Kikuletwa River, northern Tanzania. *African Journal of Ecology*, 47, 84–92.

Mwangi, H.M., Julich, S., Patil, S.D., McDonald, M.A. & Feger, K. H. 2016. Relative contribution of land use change and climate variability on discharge of upper Mara River, Kenya. *Journal of Hydrology: Regional Studies*, 5, 244– 260.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejrh.2015.12.05 9

Mwendera, E. J. 1994. Effect on the water yield of the Luchelemu catchment in Malawi of replacing indigenous grasses with timber plantations. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 65, 75-80

Okello, A.M., Masih, I., Uhlenbrook, S., Jewitt, G.P.W., van der Zaag, P. & Riddell, E. 2015. Drivers of spatial and temporal variability of streamflow in the Incomati River basin. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences, 19, 657–673.

Pitman, W. V. 1978. Trends in stream flow due to upstream land-use changes. *Journal of Hydrology* 39, 227-237

Recha, J.W., Lehmann, J., Walter, T., Pell, M., Verchot, A. & Johnson, M. 2012. Stream discharge in tropical headwater catchments as a result of forest clearing and soil degradation. Earth Interactions, 16, 13, 1–18.

https://doi.org/10.1175/2012EI000439.1

Rientjes, T.H.M., Haile, A.T., Kebede, E., Mannaerts, C.M.M., Habib, E. & Steenhuis, T. S. 2011. Changes in land cover, rainfall and stream flow in Upper Gilgel Abbay catchment, Blue Nile basin – Ethiopia. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences, 15, 1979–1989.

Scott, D.F., Prinsloo, F.W., Moses, G., Mehlomakulu, M. & Simmers, A. D. A. 2000. A re-analysis of the South African catchment afforestation experimental data : report to the Water Research Commission. WRC.

Teklemariam, D., Lanckriet, S., Azadi, H., Asfaha, T.G., Haile, M., Witlox, F. & Nyssen, J. 2017. Effects of land deals on peak discharge and sediment transport in the catchment around Grand Ethiopian Renaissance dam. Land Degradation and Development, 28, 1852–1861.

Tesfaye, G., Assefa, A. & Kidane, D. 2017. Runoff, sediment load and land use/cover change relationship: the case of Maybar sub-watershed, South Wollo, Ethiopia. International Journal of River Basin Management, 15, 1, 89–101. https://doi.org/10.1080/15715124.2016.12 39625

Woldesenbet, T.A., Elagib, N.A., Ribbe, L. & Heinrich, J. 2017. Hydrological responses to land use/cover changes in the source region of the Upper Blue Nile Basin, Ethiopia. Science of the Total Environment, 575, 724–741. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.0 9.124

Worku, T., Khare, D. & Tripathi, S. K. 2017. Modeling runoff–sediment response to land use/land cover changes using integrated GIS and SWAT model in the Beressa watershed. Environmental Earth Sciences, 76, 16. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12665-017-6883-3

Yanda, P.Z. & Munishi, K. T. 2007. Hydrologic and land use/cover change analysis for the Ruvu River (Uluguru) and Sigi River (East Usambara) watersheds. Report to WWF & CARE, Dar Es Salaam, Tanzania.

